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CeO MArTIn lInDe

CEO MARTIN LINDE

2020 - the year when we translated ideas into deeds

What we accomplished during 2020 is 
something I am extremely proud of. In 
addition to becoming listed, we have in 
this year managed to acquire Viraspec, 
Thyrolytics, Abreos and lifeAssays, which 
makes the company very well prepared 
for the future. The development skills 
contained within these companies are 
impressive and will benefit us immensely in 
the long term!

The projects we are running, with 
the monitoring of biological drugs, are 
undoubtedly the future. We are in a 
favourable position, but we have been 
punished by COVID-19 as the entire 
American healthcare system has been in 
full lockdown. As previously disclosed, we 
have chosen to carry out the final validation 
of 3 additional drugs to be ready to roll 
them out once the dust settles after the 
COVID-19 pandemic.

The next step of our company building 
was taken with the appointment of a CCO, 
Brandon Steel. In a short period of time, 
Brandon has settled in well in the company, 
and I see great opportunities moving 
forward as Brandon’s experience and 
contact network will not only benefit the 
sales process but also be very valuable for 
the company’s development projects.

When COVID-19 shut down our launch 
of the Tysabri tests in the United States, our 
response was to accelerate the next step 
of our long-term strategy for the company 
— that is, to move the Veritopes from 
laboratory tests to PoC. The current plan is 

to be ready to validate three or four drugs 
on the Magniareader in the fall, which is a 
spectacularly swift and very positive feat. 
Our acquisition of Thyrolytics follows the 
established development plan, and the 
project will hopefully be able to move into 
validation soon.
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naturally, our saliva-based COVID-19 test 
eclipses all of the above. We have now 
come to the stage where the test is Ce 
marked and ready for launch, and the first 
order of MSeK 40 is already signed with 
nowmed Sweden. We are now working 
frantically to meet all customer requests, 
at the same time as we are scaling up 
production and securing short-term 
financing to get the company off the ground 
in all markets. In the short term, we see a 
tremendous opportunity to take a market 
share and get global sales moving. It is 
difficult to say how long the demand will 
last, but as things look at the moment, 
testing will be part of our daily life for a 
long time to come. The launch is coming 
along, with all its implications — from new 
distributor agreements to relations with 
customers and authorities.

In conclusion, we soldier on to take 
advantage of our position and our window 
of opportunity on the market, and everything 
looks very good.

That being said, we are now moving into the 
next phase of the company’s history, where 
acquisitions and company building will be 
of central importance. We are devoting 
considerable time to the fact that we, in the 
near future, will complement our structure 
with further acquisitions. The potential is 
there in the company, and as long as we 
persist in doing our work every day and 
continue down the same path, Aegirbio is 
sure to be fit for the future. The fact that we 
already have become a billion SeK company 
demonstrates that we are doing the right 
things, and I believe that this is just the 
beginning. My hope is that we will be able to 
summarize 2021 in the same positive light 
as 2020.

Thank you for supporting us  
on our journey! 
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The fact that we already 
have become a billion SEK 
company demonstrates that 
we are doing the right things, 
and I believe that this is just 
the beginning. 

”
”
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The MUlTIDIAgnOSTIC ADVenTUre

Current diagnostics must be improved. For decades, the provision 
of healthcare services has suffered from a blind spot: diagnostic 
errors. Mistaken or delayed diagnoses remain prevalent in all 
healthcare settings and continue to do harm to an unacceptable 
number of patients.

There is a broad agreement among patients 
and caregivers that the healthcare systems 
need wider access to appropriate diagnostic 
tools to enable earlier diagnosis and 
facilitate monitoring. While diagnostics has 
become an important driver of value creation 
for patients and the healthcare system, the 
potential is largely unfulfilled, in particular 
with regard to use at home, in clinics and 
in pharmacies. There are several obstacles 
to the development of Point-of-need1 and 
Point-of-Care2 diagnostics.

WE ARE AEGIRBIO
The company has a strategy aimed at 
the creation of a global multidiagnostic 
company by means of strategic acquisitions 
of competing technologies and highly 
skilled personnel. Today, the company 
has establishments in Sweden, the United 
Kingdom and the United States.

Aegirbio is a biotechnology company 
that was founded on the business concept 
to develop and commercialize tests to 
monitor the dosage of biological drugs, in 
order to ensure that the appropriate persons 
are given the appropriate doses at the 
appropriate time. Building upon laboratory 

tests, the Company has revised its strategy 
and has in a short period of time, through 
select acquisitions, added technologies and 
skills to the Company to make headway 
towards becoming the multidiagnostic 
company it has set out to be.

AEGIRBIO TRANSFORMS THE  
DIAGNOSTIC MARKET
• Aegirbio envisions a future where the 

Company, through the development of 
novel diagnostics, enables and facilitates 
people to stay on top of their own health 
issues. 

• Aegirbio works to increase the supply 
of diagnostic technology, including the 
ability to differentiate between diseases 
that manifest similar symptoms, detect 
the presence of latent disease agents, 
and provide useful low-cost monitoring 
of treatment effectiveness and disease 
recurrence. 

• Aegirbio’s ambition, in addition to bringing 
innovative diagnostics technology to 
the market, is to make diagnostics more 
accessible and easier to use while providing 
accurate and easily transferable results.  

THE MULTIDIAGNOSTIC ADVENTURE

The MUlTIDIAgnOSTIC ADVenTUre

1  A Point-of-Need test is defined as a diagnostic test that can be administered by 
patients themselves in their familiar surroundings.
2 A Point-of-Care test is defined as a diagnostic test that is performed in or near the 
location where care is provided, for example, in a clinic or health center.
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SOLUTIONS FOR VARIOUS  
DIAGNOSTIC SEGMENTS
Our plan is to cover the most important 
segments of the diagnostic market, with a 
clear focus on the customer and consumer 
market, by means of:

Rapid testing for indicative and quick 
results.

• Viraspec offers an easy-to-use platform for 
rapid testing of infectious diseases caused by  
viruses, which also can be used for bacteria. 

• Quretest comprises a series of rapid, 
easy-to-use tests that allow you to 
check your own health status quickly 
and conveniently. Quretest is based on 
a technology that easily gives a precise 
reading within a few minutes. Quretest 
provides simple and rapid tests for a 
variety of diseases and conditions.

Point of Need, for quantitative home  
testing in chronic diseases.  

Aegirbio brings complex laboratory tests into 
healthcare centers and home settings. 

• Thyrolytics is a unique and patented 
platform, which employs specific 
enzymes to perform an electrochemical 
measurement of various components of 
blood. A single drop of blood from the 
tip of the finger is enough to obtain an 
accurate result within minutes.

• Magnasense QDA is a unique method 
based on magnetic particles. The test 
platform, a miniature version of the 
Magniareader presented below, provides 
a quantitative result within a few minutes. 
high accuracy and rapid response.

• SampleX is a generic sample preparation 
platform for precise separation of plasma 
and dilution to the correct level. SampleX 
effectively eliminates the issues that arise 

in the preparation of samples for point of 
need testing. SampleX is to be integrated 
with the home-test platform.

Point of Care, for quantitative testing in 
clinics during routine controls. 

Aegirbio brings complex laboratory tests 
into healthcare centers and home settings. 

• Magnasense Magniareader is a unique 
method based on magnetic particles. The 
test platform provides quantitative results 
within minutes, and the performance 
is comparable to laboratory tests. The 
first tests to be launched are MoNATor 
(lDT, see below) tests for oncologic and 
neurologic diseases.

• Thyrolytics unique and patented rapid 
tests based on blood samples are also 
intended for use in clinics and healthcare 
centers.

Laboratory tests. 

• MoNATor is a group of lDT tests 
(laboratory Developed Tests), that is, a 
diagnostic test for the US market. The test 
is designed, produced and performed in 
a single laboratory. Aegirbio’s test for the 
drug Tysabri is Aegirbio’s first LDT test.

• Therapeutic Drug Monitoring (TDM) ,  
implies that the dosage is assessed and 
monitored for each individual, and adjusted 
for maximum effectiveness. We know today 
that drug levels can vary greatly between 
individuals at the same dosing. If the 
drug concentration is too low, the patient 
will not respond to treatment. If the drug 
concentration is too high, the risk of serious 
adverse reactions increases dramatically, 
and, in turn, the cost to society. We monitor 
existing drugs but we are also involved in 
the dose optimization process for future 
drugs. 

TODAY
So far, Aegirbio’s market 
launches include

MonATor Tysabri for the 
determination of active 
drug substance levels 
in patients receiving 
treatment with Tysabri 
for MS.

rapid test for COVID-19. 
In April 2021, the 
company launched 
its rapid test for 
COVID-19, Viraspec 
Covid-19. The test is 
a saliva-based rapid 
test and is thus easy, 
quick and convenient 
to administer, without 
the discomfort of nasal 
swab testing.
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AEGIRBIO’S GREAT POTENTIAL
right now, the company has a strong focus 
on the launch of the rapid test for COVID-19, 
Viraspec Covid-19. The fact that Aegirbio 
has managed to develop a competitive 
product, have it Ce marked, and conduct 
a broad rollout is an incredible sign of 
strength. The COVID-19 tests are brought 
to a new market without comparable data, 
but Aegirbio estimates that the global 
market is a multi-billion market that can 
accommodate many operators. The 
company’s ambition is to identify a number 
of distributors that can help put the product 
on several different markets. The decline 
of COVID-19 is a very positive development 
and will not impact the great demand for 
simple rapid tests, which in the company’s 
assessment will remain for a long time 
to come. In addition, Aegirbio will have a 
preparedness for other variants of viruses 
emerging in the future and will be ready to 
act fast. 

The Company otherwise follows its 
strategy to improve the efficiency of the use 
of biological drugs. The tests are initially 
launched as laboratory-developed tests 
(lDT) in the United States, to gain market 
intelligence, collect data and generate 
sales revenue. The corresponding tests 
are subsequently developed in Point-of-
Care (POC) format for launch in europe 

followed by the United States. Where 
appropriate, Points-of-need (POn) tests 
may also be developed for selected 
markets. This strategy results in a shorter 
time to commercialization. lDT can be 
offered in the United States after a short 
time of validation, as we already have an 
established validation process with the 
certified external laboratory ResearchDax. 

Aegirbio currently has three lDTs ready 
for final validation and commercialization, 
and four tests will be advanced into final 
validation as POC in the fall of 2021. With 
this approach, the Company will address 
the greater portion of the multibillion-dollar 
market that the monitoring of patients 
during treatment with biopharmaceuticals 
represents.

With the launch of the test for COVID-19 
antigen in saliva, the Company stepped into 
the infectious disease market. According 
to Acumen3, this market will be worth USD 
24.5 million by 2027. The POC segment, 
which by far is the fastest growing segment 
of infectious disease testing, is estimated 
to account for 10 percent of that (Fortune 
Business Insights). 

In the company’s assessment, the 
focused effort relating to point-of-care 
and home tests in parallel to monitoring of 
biological drugs is timely and will position 
the Company in rapidly growing markets.

3 https://www.acumenresearchandconsulting.com/infectious-disease-market.
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AEGIRBIO – THE HISTORY

AegIrBIO – The hISTOry

LifeAssays AB is established

Abreos Biosciences Inc. is established  
in the United States

A collaboration is initiated between the 
companies, including the verification of 
Veritope molecules on MagniaReader’s 
Point of Care platform.

Aegirbio AB is founded as a Joint  
Venture between LifeAssays AB and  
Abreos Biosciences Inc.

Aegirbio AB is listed on Nasdaq First 
North Growth Market in June 2020. 

The first aquisitions are carried out, of  
the Lund-based companies Thyrolytics AB 
and Viraspec AB. 

Commencement of work on the merger 
between LifeAssays AB och Aegirbio AB. 
The work is currently ongoing and the 
merger is expected to be completed in 
early June 2021.

MARKET OVERVIEW  
From the Company’s perspective, the 
relevant market comprises treatable 
diseases and the market for comparable 
diagnostic tests.

BIOPHARMACEUTICALS
Biopharmaceuticals or biological drugs are 
defined as medicinal products where one or 
more active substances are produced from 
a biological source. These biotechnological 
pharmaceuticals are tailored to specific 
mechanisms of action in the body, which 
is often associated with side effects. One 
reason for these side effects is the dosing 
of the drug, where optimal dosage varies 
between individuals. Differing responses to 
the pharmaceutical, in addition to the fact 
that the same dosing is often administered 
without taking individual differences into 
account, results in more than 50 percent of all 
treated patients being dosed incorrectly.4 

Biological therapies is the fastest 
growing segment of the pharmaceutical 
industry; a quarter of all drugs are projected 
to be biological in 2020.5 The supply of 
biopharmaceuticals is thus increasing. 
examples of treatable diseases include 
multiple sclerosis (MS)6 and breast cancer, in 
particular the aggressive (her2-positive) type.7 

Aegirbio develops technologies to 
optimize the dosing of biological drugs. 
The total biopharmaceuticals market, 
including her2-positive breast cancer 
and MS, is estimated at eUr 237 billion. 
Moreover, the market for biological drugs 

2000

2013

2018

2019

2020

2020

2021

4 Finnish Medicines Agency Fimea: “What are biological drugs?”
5 Royal Society of Chemistry: “How biologics have changed the rules of pharma.”
6 Global Data - PharmaPoint: “Multiple Sclerosis Global Drug Forecast and Market Analysis to 2026”
7 Global Data - PharmaPoint: “HER2-Positive Breast Cancer - Global Drug Forecast and Market Analysis to 2025”
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is the fastest growing segment of the 
whole pharmaceutical industry, which has 
an average annual growth of 8.6 percent 
(market size estimated at 389 billion by 
2024). The Company intends to focus its 
commercialization on multiple sclerosis 
(MS), cancer, and autoimmune diseases.

CANCER
There is now a wide range of possible 
alternatives for treating cancer, and the 
choice of therapy depends on the type 
of cancer as well as its progression. 
examples of treatments include surgery, 
radiation therapy, chemotherapy and 
biopharmaceuticals.8 In cancer patients, 
biopharmaceuticals can be used to treat 
either the cancer itself or the adverse 
effects of other cancer therapies.9

One of the most common forms of 
cancer is breast cancer. Second to prostate 
cancer, breast cancer is currently the most 
common cancer in Sweden.10 Treatment 
with biopharmaceuticals is often relevant 
for her2-positive breast cancer.11 The 
pharmaceutical market related to her2-
positive breast cancer was valued at USD 
6.58 billion in 2015 and is expected to 
grow to USD 10.07 billion by 2025, with an 
annual growth rate (CAgr) of 4.4 percent. 
The United States is the largest market and 
represents 53 percent of total sales.12 

The main driver of positive growth in 
the her2-positive breast cancer market 

is projected to be the introduction of new 
drugs. The highest sales growth is expected 
to come from the drug Perjeta, used to treat 
advanced breast cancer in combination 
with other preparations, with expected sales 
of USD 2,9 billion in 2023. Other examples 
include neratinib, a drug that compared 
with Perjeta is used to treat her2-positive 
breast cancer at an earlier stage. 

In 2015, 795,114 individuals were 
diagnosed with breast cancer across the 
eight largest markets (the United States, 
France, germany, Italy, the United Kingdom, 
Japan and China), of which 139,405 cases 
were her2 positive.13

MULTIPLE SCLEROSIS (MS) 
Multiple sclerosis (MS) is a neurological 
disease of the central nervous system 
that leads to neurological disability. Today, 
there are several treatment options for MS, 
including oral and intravenous alternatives. 
Oral treatment options are expected to 
increase in market share at the expense of 
intravenous alternatives, as they facilitate 
the process for the patient. In 2016, the most 
commonly used pharmaceuticals – gilenya, 
Aubagio and Tecfidera – generated combined 
sales of USD 7.4 billion, corresponding to 
38.8 percent of the total market. Intravenous 
alternatives accounted for sales of USD 9.5 
billion in 2016, corresponding to 49.6 percent 
of the total market. 

The total pharmaceutical market related 
to MS treatment was  estimated at USD 

8 National Cancer Institute: “Types of cancer treatment”
9 National Cancer Institute: “Biological therapies for cancer”
10 Vårdguiden: “Bröstcancer”
11 The Swedish Cancer Society: “Breast cancer”
12 Global Data - PharmaPoint: “HER2-Positive Breast Cancer - Global Drug Forecast and Market Analysis to 2025”
13 Global Data - PharmaPoint: “HER2-Positive Breast Cancer - Global Drug Forecast and Market Analysis to 2025”
14 Global Data - PharmaPoint: “Multiple Sclerosis Global Drug Forecast and Market Analysis to 2026”



12 AEGIRBIO Annual Report 2020

AegIrBIO – The hISTOry

19.1 billion in 2016, projected to reach 
25.3 billion by 2026. In 2016, 1,024,711 
individuals were diagnosed with MS across 
the seven largest markets (the United 
States, France, germany, Italy, Spain, the 
United Kingdom and Japan).14 

THE MARKET FOR IN VITRO  
DIAGNOSTICS
In vitro diagnostics are medical tests 
performed on blood or tissue sampled 
from the human body, for example to verify 
the dosing of biological drugs. In-vitro 
diagnostics can detect actual diseases 
as well as monitor the general health of a 
person in order to prevent disease. Some 
tests are used in laboratories, while others 
can be used directly by the end consumer.15 
The in vitro diagnostics market totaled USD 

65 billion in 2018 and is expected to grow 
by 4 percent annually to USD 78 billion by 
2023. At present, 44 percent of the market 
is based in the United States and 20 percent 
in europe. 

The market for in vitro diagnostics can 
be segmented along different dimensions, 
for example point-of-care (POC) diagnostics 
versus laboratory diagnostics. Another 
way to classify the market is segmentation 
by disease, where Aegirbio will focus 
activitites towards the immunoassay 
market. The POC market is currently valued 
at USD 19.5 billion, while the immunoassay 
market is estimated at USD 8.4 billion. 
however, it should be noted that these two 
subsegments of the market for in vitro 
diagnostics overlap, as some POC tests 
are performed within an immunoassay 
framework.16

14 Global Data - PharmaPoint: “Multiple Sclerosis Global Drug Forecast and Market Analysis to 2026”
15 U.S. Food & Drug Administration: ”In Vitro Diagnostics”
16 Markets and markets: ”Companion Diagnostics Market”

The market for 
in vitro diagnostics

$78 billion
2023

44%
USA

20%
Europe
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SHARE CAPITAL AND OWNERSHIP

THE SHARE 
The Aegirbio AB (publ) share was listed 
on nasdaq First north growth Market in 
Stockholm on June 22, 2020, where it is 
traded under the AegIr ticker. First north 
is an alternative stock exchange, operated 
by an exchange within the nASDAQ OMX 
group. Companies listed on First north 
growth Market are not subject to the same 
regulations as companies listed on the 
regulated main market. Instead, they are 
subject to a less extensive set of rules 
and regulations adjusted to small growth 
companies. The risk associated with 
investing in a company on nasdaq First 
north growth Market may therefore be 
higher than when investing in a company on 

the main market. All companies with shares 
traded on nasdaq First north growth Market 
have a Certified Adviser who monitors 
that the rules are followed. The exchange 
approves the application for admission to 
trading.

Aegirbio’s Certified Adviser on Nasdaq 
First north growth Market is eminova 
Fondkommission AB, +46 8 684 211 00, 
info@eminova.se

As of December 31, 2020, the number of 
shares amounted to 11,935,289. There is 
one class of shares. each share has equal 
right to shares in the Company's assets and 
profit, and entitles to one vote in the General 
Meeting.

Development of the share capital

(KSeK)
Number of  

shares
Share  

capital
Other  

contributed capital Total

IB October 14, 2019
Company formation 1,250,000 50,000 - 50,000

Offset issue 11,250,000 450,000 351,000 801,000

Equity December 31, 2019 12,500,000 500,000 351,000 851,000

As of January 1, 2020 12,500,000 500,000 351,000 851,000

Pre-IPO 901,756 36,070 5,013,763 5,049,833

reverse split 2:1 -6,700,878 0 0 0

Warrant payments, Board and CeO 0 0 340,230 340,230

IPO 2,160,000 172,800 13,440,309 13,613,109

Overallotment 300,000 24,000 0 24,000

exercise of TO1 warrants, Aug 404,917 32,393 3,592,985 3,625,378

exercise of TO1 warrants, Sep 749,074 59,926 6,635,565 6,695,491

exercise of TO1 warrants, Oct 92,368 7,389 804,973 812,362

Acquisition Viraspec 396,000 31,680 7,135,920 7,167,600

Acquisition Thyrolytics 1,102,400 88,192 19,865,248 19,953,440

exercise of TO1 warrants, nov 20,361 1,629 162,970 164,599

exercise of TO1 warrants, Dec 9,291 743 64,301 65,044

Equity December 31, 2020 11,935,289 954,823 57,407,263 58,362,087
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND CEO

Anders Ingvarsson 
Member of the board since December 
2019 and Chairman since May 2020  

Born: 1957. 

Education and experience: M.Sc. in 
Chemical engineering from the royal 
Institute of Technology (KTh). Founder 
and consultant in biotechnology and other 
matters through Aktiebolaget Anders 
Ingvarsson Consulting.

Other ongoing assignments Chief executive 
Officer of LifeAssays AB (publ). Chairman of 
the Board of Magnasense Technologies Oy 
(Finland). Owner of all shares, member of 
the board and CeO of Aktiebolaget Anders 
Ingvarsson Consulting. 

Shareholding: Anders Ingvarsson owns 
56,999 shares in the Company, privately and 
through company. 

[Anders Ingvarsson is independent in relation 
to the Company and its management but not 
independent in relation to the Company’s 
major shareholders.]

Bradley Messmer.
Member of the board since February 
2020.

Born: 1974.

Education and experience: Ph.D. in 
molecular biology from rockefeller 
University. Founder of Abreos Biosciences 
Inc. (United States). Co-founder of Devacell 
Inc. (United States). Cancer research at the 
University of California San Diego. 

Other ongoing assignments: Chief 
Executive Officer of Abreos Biosciences Inc, 
Chairman of the Board of Abreos Sweden. 

Shareholding: Bradley Messmer owns 
approximately 48 percent of the shares 
in Abreos Biosciences Inc., which, in turn, 
owns 3,125,000 shares in the Company.

[Bradley Messmer is independent in relation 
to the Company and its management but not 
independent in relation to the Company’s 
major shareholders.]
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Fredrik Häglund 
Member of the board since May 2020

Born: 1975

Education and experience: M.Sc. 
in Strategic Management, Business 
Administration, lund University (2002), 
B.Sc. in Financial economics, economics, 
lund University, (2000).  

Other ongoing assignments: Board member 
for several companies including life Assays 
AB, Skansporten Fastighetsförvaltning 
AB, Starfast Fastighetsförvaltning 
AB and ellingTofta Jordbruks AB. 
he also has directorships in several 
smaller private companies. Council of 
Trustees länsförsäkringar Insurance, 
länsförsäkringar Insurerers Association.

Innehav: Fredrik häglund owns 57,977 
shares and other securities in the Company.

[Fredrik Häglund is independent in relation 
to the Company and its management but not 
independent in relation to the Company’s 
major shareholders.]

Seppo Mäkinen.
Member of the board since February 2020.

Born: 1952.

Education and experience: M.Sc in Physical 
Chemistry from the University of Jyväskylä. 
runs an analytical laboratory at the State 
Agricultural Institute of helsinki. Sales 
and marketing of analytical instruments in 
American Millipore Waters. has worked for 
venture capital funds in Finland, Denmark, 
France and Portugal, all investing in life 
sciences. Specialist in fund raising, venture 
capitalization, M&A, strategy, diagnostics, 
microfluidics, medical technology, digital 
health, clean technology and analytical 
chemistry.

Other ongoing assignments: Board member 
of Bittium Oy (Finland), Optomed Oy 
(Finland), Videovisit Oy (Finland), neurotar 
Oy (Finland). Partner in Pathena Investment 
Fund (Portugal).

Innehav: Seppo Mäkinen does not own any 
shares and other securities in the Company.

[Seppo Mäkinen is independent in relation 
to the Company, its management and the 
Company’s major shareholders.] 
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Martin Linde 
Chief Executive Officer since May 2020.

Born: 1971.

Education and experience: M.Sc. of 
economics and executive MBA from lund 
University. has previously worked as 
Managing Director of Aquilles Invest AB and 
Abdonmills/Finax nordic AB and as general 
Manager of Atria retail AB.

Other ongoing assignments: Chairman 
of the Board of Staffansgården i Trää AB, 
Optifreeze AB, Biofrigas Sweden AB (publ), 
Stora Södergatans Fastigheter AB, AcouSort 
AB and Thyrolytics AB. Member of the 
board of Spirifer Fastigheter Aktiebolag, 
Carbiotix AB (publ), Danji holding AB, Danji 
AB, lifeAssays AB (publ) and lundatriangeln 
AB. external CeO of SensoDetect Aktiebolag. 
Board alternate of Semenco AB, Cederlinden 
AB, Magnusgården AB and green touch AB. 

Innehav: Martin linde owns, together with 
his family and through companies, 127,227 
shares and other securities in the Company.

[Martin Linde is not independent in relation 
to the Company, its management or the 
Company's major shareholders.]
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MANAGEMENT REPORT

THE OPERATIONS  
IN GENERAL
Aegirbio is a Swedish diagnostics company established to 
offer tests to monitor and optimize the dosing of biological 
drugs by means of a unique, patented technology platform. 
Biological therapies is the fastest growing segment of 
the pharmaceutical industry; a quarter of all drugs are 
projected to be biological in 2020. At the same time, drug 
concentrations vary tremendously (up to 100 times) in 
patients that receive biological drugs in standard doses.

The result of this one size fits all-approach is that 
patients with low drug concentrations do not respond to 
treatment, while excessive drug concentrations increase 
the risk of adverse effects in others. The uncertainty 
surrounding dosing results in overdosing or underdosing in 
about 55 percent of the cases, which causes unnecessary 
costs, suboptimal clinical outcomes, and a higher 
proportion of patients suffering severe side effects.

The Company has completed acquisitions that ensure 
long-term access to key technologies and open up new 
application areas. Through these acquisitions, Aegirbio, 
rooted in laboratory testing, have in a short period of time 
added technologies and skills to the Company to make 
headway towards becoming the multidiagnostic company 
it has set out to be. 

Aegirbio is now building its operations around 
technologies for

• rapid testing for indicative and quick results
• Point of need, quantitative home tests for chronic 

diseases
• Point of Care, quantitative point-of-care tests for 

routine controls in clinics and health centres
• laboratory tests for monitoring patients treated with 

biological drugs.

The acquisitions provide the Company the means to 
develop new diagnostics to enable people to monitor 
their own health issues. In addition to bringing innovative 
diagnostic technology to market, the Company’s ambition 
in that regard is to make diagnostics more accurate, easier 
to use and with precise and easily transferable results.

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS DURING  
THE FINANCIAL YEAR
The company carries out a pre-IPO, raising MSEK 
4.5. 

In January, the company announces that it has raised 
MSeK 4.5 in proceeds after issuance costs, based on a 
pre-money valuation of the company of MSeK 70.

First samples tested with Aegirbio's test MoNATor 
Tysabri. 

In April, it was announced that the first samples had 
been tested with MonATor Tysabri. Together with 
Abreos Biosciences, the company has set up testing for 
personalized monitoring of MS sufferers during treatment 
with Tysabri. 

Aegirbio admitted to trading on Nasdaq First North 
Growth Market. 

In June, it is announced that Aegirbio has been admitted 
to trading on nasdaq First north growth Market. In 
conjunction with the listing, the company’s issue of units 
is substantially oversubscribed with a subscription rate of 
307 percent.

Aegirbio acquires subsidiary.

In October, Aegirbio strengthens its COVID-19 effort and 
decides to acquire Viraspec AB. COVID-19 is a priority 
area for Aegirbio. The acquisition of Viraspec AB, a 
company with cutting-edge technology for detection of 
COVID-19 infection in patients, aims to complement the 
company’s offering. 

An additional subsidiary is acquired. 

Shortly thereafter, Aegirbio continues its acquisition 
journey and decides to acquire the diagnostics company 
Thyrolytics AB. Thyrolytics AB is a diagnostics company 
with a patented technology for the diagnosis of thyroid-
related diseases. The idea is to perform a simple test at 
a health center to determine the presence of disease and 
what the issue is. Furthermore, Thyrolytics also has a drug 
candidate which is the beginning of Aegirbio's ambition 
to work with co-diagnostics, i.e., both monitoring and 
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drugs in combination. Today, the Company is focused 
on thyroid-related diseases and is currently conducting 
clinical validation of a test for Tyroidea Stimulating 
hormone (TSh), a marker that indicates whether the 
thyroid gland is functioning properly. 

Thyrolytics expands Aegirbio's offering with a precise 
and uniquely simple test platform. Aegirbio acquires 
Thyrolytics AB and thus strengthens its offering in 
the market for Point-of-Care tests with an additional 
company with a complementary technology platform 
and products on the verge of market introduction. 

Formation of the Aegirbio group. 

On October 23, Viraspec and Thyrolytics are registered as 
wholly-owned subsidiaries and the group is established.

Good results in two trials. 

In november, Aegirbio announces that the company's 
COVID-19 tests is showing convincing results. The fast 
track process to obtain authorization of the test in the 
United States commences. The Company's launch of 
COVID-19 tests in europe under the Ce-IVD Directive 
is thus expanded, as the request for emergency Use 
Authorization (eUA) is submitted in the United States. 

MSEK 4.3 of direct aid granted. 

In December, Aegirbio announces that the company’s 
application for financial aid from Eurostar for the project 
“A cost-effective and broadly applicable mimetope based 
diagnostic platform for high-impact pandemics” was 
ranked 27th among 550 applicants. The total project 
budget amounts to € 1,442,500. Aegirbio's share of the 
project is approximately MSeK 8.6, and the german 
partner lixonex gmbh has the remaining share. Aegirbio 
allocates resources to bear half of its own expenses. The 
remainder, approximately MSeK 4.3, is received through 
Vinnova as a direct cash grant. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER  
THE END OF THE YEAR
Aegirbio creates the multi-diagnostic company of the 
future and acquires LifeAssays and Abreos Bioscience. 
On January 25, the Board of Directors of AegirBio an-
nounces that is has resolved to acquire lifeAssays AB 
and Abreos Bioscience. Through these acquisitions, 
Aegirbio becomes a leading multi-diagnostic company 

with new opportunities for expansion on the world market. 
The acquisitions of lifeAssays and Abreos Bioscience 
imply that Aegirbio secures the world-leading technology 
that serves as the basis of the products that will bring the 
Company into the future and open up new opportunities 
for expansion on the world market.

Aegirbio AB employs Brandon Steele in the role as 
Chief Commercial Officer. 
On February 17, the Company announces the addition of 
Brandon Steele to its Senior Management Team, where 
he takes position as Chief Commercial Officer. In this 
position, he will be responsible for leading the company’s 
commercial breakthrough in the United States.

Aegirbio launches rapid test for COVID-19. 
On April 14, Aegirbio announces that the time has come to 
launch Viraspec Covid-19. The test is a saliva-based rapid 
test and is thus easy, quick and convenient to administer, 
without the discomfort of nasal swab testing. The con-
sumer collects saliva into a container containing a reagent, 
then pours the liquid onto the reagent stick. After a waiting 
period of five minutes, the result can be read from the stick, 
with a clear line indicating whether infection was detected.

Aegirbio AB signs a distribution agreement for the 
COVID-19 test and at the same time receives an 
order of at least MSEK 40. 
On May 4, Aegirbio announces that an agreement for 
distribution of COVID-19 tests has been signed with 
nowMed Sweden AB, a company focused solely on 
COVID-19 products. The cooperation with nowMed 
Sweden entails that the company will act as distributor 
and partner on the Scandinavian professional market. 
nowMed Sweden will further assist with warehousing, 
orders and deliveries to the rest of the world. Sales 
outside the nordic countries will be handled internally 
by Aegirbio. The agreement is premised on the parties 
sharing the profit, which implies that Aegirbio will be 
able to maintain its good margins also in the long term. 
This order alone is worth at least MSeK 40 to Aegirbio.

Aegirbio signs sales agreement for COVID-19 tests 
in Germany, the largest market in Europe. 
On May 4, Aegirbio announces that the company has 
signed an agreement with MIDAS Pharma, a pharmaceuti-
cal company in germany, for sales of the Company’s sa-
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liva test for COVID-19. MIDAS Pharma will initially market 
the product in germany but will eventually include other 
markets where it has operations. Through the agreement 
with MIDAS Pharma, Aegirbio gains direct access to eu-
rope’s largest diagnostics market where COVID-19 testing 
is well established. In addition, MIDAS Pharma will cover 
countries outside germany through its network, which will 
speed up Aegirbio’s sales of tests.

Aegirbio secures working capital for expansion and 
signs a loan agreement totaling MSEK 50. 
On May 11, the company announces that it has concluded 
an agreement with a consortium concerning borrowing 
arrangements totaling MSeK 50. The lender provides 
a loan of MSeK 30 to the company and an additional 
loan commitment of MSeK 20. Aegirbio signs the loan 
agreement in order to be able to fulfill and develop the 
opportunities offered by the COVID-19 tests on the world 
market. The volumes will be substantial, and working 
capital is required, among other things, to ensure access to 
raw material. The loan agreement will only be used to the 
extent necessary before revenue from already concluded 
sales agreements starts to flow to the company.

The Swedish Companies Registration Office has 
authorized the implementation of the planned merger 
between Aegirbio and LifeAssays. 
On May 19, Aegirbio announces that the Swedish 
Companies Registration Office has granted authorization 
to Aegirbio to implement the merger plan for the merger 
between AegirBio and lifeAssays AB. The Swedish 
Companies Registration Office is expected to register the 
merger on Thursday, June 10, 2021. In connection with the 
registration of the merger, lifeAssays will be dissolved and 
all its assets and liabilities will be transferred to AegirBio. 
In connection with the registration of the merger by the 
Swedish Companies Registration Office, the shareholders 
that are registered in the share register of lifeAssays will 
receive merger consideration. each share in lifeAssays will 
be exchanged for 0.0616 new shares in AegirBio.

The Swedish Companies Registration Office has 
registered the merger between Aegirbio AB and 
LifeAssays AB. 
On June 10, Aegirbio announces that the merger between 
Aegirbio and lifeAssays is registered with the Swedish 
Companies Registration Office. The merger is thus 
concluded and lifeAssays is dissolved. Following the 
registration, the merger has gained legal force, and all 

assets and liabilities of lifeAssays have been transferred 
to Aegirbio. In connection with the registration of the 
merger, the Swedish Companies Registration Office today 
registered a new issue of 1,734,287 shares in Aegirbio as 
part of the total merger consideration of 4,859,287 shares 
in Aegirbio. The total number of shares outstanding in 
Aegirbio after the registration of the merger thus amounts 
to 14,845,200.

FINANCIAL OVERVIEW
Group

KSEK / %
2020-10-23 
2020-12-31

net sales -

Operating profit -10,347

Profit after financial items -10,347

Balance sheet total 44,197

Solidity (%) 88,06%

Basic earnings per share -0,87

Parent Company – Multi-year overview

KSEK / %
 

2020 2019

net sales 14 -

Operating profit -18,519 -

Profit after financial items -18,525 -

Balance sheet total 44,119 951

Solidity (%) 90,30% 89,50%

Definitions:
Solidity (%) = Equity as a percentage of total assets

ECONOMIC OVERVIEW
Group / Parent Company
A group was established on October 23, 2020, when 
Aegirbio AB acquired the subsidiaries Viraspec AB and 
Thyrolytics AB. In addition, the wholly-owned subsidiary 
AegirBio ltd. was registered in england in December. 

Reporting under IFRS

As part of its development, Aegirbio decided, in conjunc-
tion with the group’s formation, to prepare the consolidat-
ed financial statements in accordance with International 
Financial reporting Standards (IFrS). In this connection, 
the Parent Company started applying rFr 2 Accounting 
for Legal Entities in the preparation of its financial state-
ments. (See note 2 for additional information.)
Revenue and results

The Group
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The group had no sales during 2020. Other operating 
income for the period amounted to KSEK 218. Profit/
loss for the period and total comprehensive income 
amounted to KSeK -10,347. The group’s basic and 
diluted earnings per share amounted to SeK -0.87.

The Parent Company
Most of the operations during the year were conducted 
through the Parent Company. net sales for the year 
amounted to KSeK 14 (0), and other income amounted 
to KSeK 0 (0). The reason for the relatively low turnover 
is that the company was heavily affected by COVID-19, 
as the entire American healthcare system was put into 
lockdown when sales were starting to gain pace. The 
Parent Company did not capitalize any costs of it own, 
but acquired intangible assets of KSeK 2,419 (801) over 
the year. Profit/loss for the year and total comprehensive 
income amounted to KSeK -18,525 (0). no substantial 
activities took place in the company in the previous year.

Financial position and cash flow

Cash flow from operating activities in the Parent Company 
was KSeK -17,744 (0), mostly attributable to the operating 
profit, which amounted to KSEK -18,519 (0). 

The total cash flow in the Parent Company amounted 
to KSeK 10,228 (0). This amount takes into account that 
liquidity of KSeK 30,391 was provided during the year by 
means of new issuance.

Investments

Cash flow from investments amounted to KSEK -2,419 
(-801) and related to intangible fixed assets. In addition, 
the company acquired subsidiaries of a value of KSeK 
27,121, but the acquisitions did not affect the cash flow 
as the consideration consisted of shares in the company.

New issues during the year

An extraordinary general meeting held in December 
2019 resolved on a directed issue of 901,756 shares at a 
subscription price of SeK 5.60, which was carried out in 
January 2020. The company received approximately MSeK 
5.0 in proceeds from the issue, before issuance costs.

In connection with the nasdaq First north listing in 
June, an initial public offering to invest in the company 
was completed. The offering comprised 2,000,000 Units, 
corresponding to proceeds of approximately MSeK 15 
before issuance costs.  Because of the great interest, 
an additional 300,000 Units, corresponding to MSeK 
2.3 before issuance costs, were issued in a so-called 

overallotment issue. One Unit consisted of one share and 
one warrant. The subscription price per Unit was SeK 
7.50, or SeK 7.5 per share. The warrants were issued free-
of-charge. each warrant entitled the holder to subscribe 
for one new share at an exercise price of SeK 9 during the 
period June 26, 2020, to March 26, 2021.

 
Share-based incentive programs

Warrant program 2020/2022 (CEO)
An extraordinary general meeting of the Company 
resolved on May 27, 2020, to implement a warrant 
program for the Chief Executive Officer. The program 
entails that the Company shall issue no more than 
261,026 warrants, each conferring the right to subscribe 
for 1 new share in the company. Through the exercise of 
warrants, the company’s share capital may increase by 
no more than SeK 20,882.08. The warrants are issued 
at a subscription price of SeK 0.36 per warrant, which is 
equivalent to the market value of the warrants according 
to the standard valuation method (Black & Scholes). 
each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one new 
share at an exercise price of SeK 11.25. Assuming full 
participation and that the warrants are utilized in full to 
subscribe for shares, the program may entail a dilution 
of, at most, approximately 3.75 percent, based on the 
number of shares outstanding in the company following 
the implementation of the incentive program. Subscription 
for shares with warrants will be possible during the period 
between June 1, 2022, and December 31, 2022, inclusive.

Warrant program 2020/2022 (Board)

An extraordinary general meeting of the Company resolved 
on May 27, 2020, to implement a warrant program for the 
members of the Board of Directors. The program entails 
that the Company shall issue no more than 609,058 
warrants, each conferring the right to subscribe for 1 new 
share in the company. Through the exercise of warrants, 
the company’s share capital may increase by no more than 
SeK 48,724.64. The Chairman of the Board is entitled to 
subscribe for no more than 261,026 warrants, and the other 
members of the board are each entitled to subscribe for 
no more than 87,008 warrants. The warrants are issued 
at a subscription price of SeK 0.36 per warrant, which is 
equivalent to the market value of the warrants according 
to the standard valuation method (Black & Scholes). 
each warrant entitles the holder to subscribe for one new 
share at an exercise price of SeK 11.25. Assuming full 
participation and that the warrants are utilized in full to 
subscribe for shares, the program may entail a dilution 
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of, at most, approximately 8.33 percent, based on the 
number of shares outstanding in the company following 
the implementation of the incentive program. Subscription 
for shares with warrants will be possible during the period 
between June 1, 2022, and December 31, 2022, inclusive.

Organization, personnel and sustainability

At the start of 2020, Anders Ingvarsson was the acting CeO 
of Aegirbio. In conjunction with the listing on nasdaq First 
north, Anders Ingvarsson was replaced by Martin linde as 
CeO and was then elected Chairman of the Board. 

Aegirbio conducts it operations with a sustainability 
focus in respect of both environmental and personnel 
matters. The company is not conducting any operations 
that are subject to specific environmental licensing rules.

RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT ACTIVITIES
Product development
Aegirbio’s business concept is to develop and commercial-
ize tests to monitor the dosing of biological drugs. Aegirbio 
envisions a future where strengthened development of 
novel diagnostics allows nearly everyone to stay on top of 
any health issues. Aegirbio's ambition, in addition to bring-
ing innovative diagnostics technology to the market, is to 
make diagnostics more accessible and easier to use while 
providing accurate and easily transferable results.

FExpected future development

right now, the company has a strong focus on the launch 
of the rapid test for COVID-19. The current market for 
rapid, Ce-marked COVID-19 tests is gigantic, and the com-
pany aims to identify a number of distributors that can 
help put the product on several different markets. Despite 
that COVID-19 is soon to be in decline, the great demand 
for simple rapid tests will remain unaffected, and the com-
pany’s assessment is that it will remain for a long time to 
come. In addition, Aegirbio will have a preparedness for 
other variants of viruses emerging in the future and will 
be ready to act fast. The company has high expectations 
of its COVID-19 test. The company had concluded several 
distribution agreements within a few weeks after finalizing 
the product, and a flood of requests from distributors far 
and wide are pouring into the company. Mass production 
of tests is well under way, and at the moment, the com-
pany’s supply of materials is ensured with a margin. 
Alongside the COVID-19 tests, the company’s overall strat-
egy is to launch the laboratory Developed Test (lDT) in the 
United States at first, then as Point of Care (POC) in Europe 

and the United States, and finally as Point of Need (PON) 
across all markets. The company’s initial objective is to es-
tablish itself on the US market by offering a test to monitor 
treatment with the drug Tysabri, an area where sales have 
already commenced. After establishing the test as lDT, 
the next step is to expand the market to europe to reach 
a larger customer base and thereby ensure sales growth. 
Where justified, MagniaReader's tests shall also be carried 
over to Magniareader Quantitative Disposable Analyser 
(QDA), which will make it possible to safely perform these 
complex tests in the home environment as well. 

In addition, the company envisages to launch a 
new test to optimize the dosing of the pharmaceutical 
herceptin, which will see use as a breast cancer therapy in 
the near future.

Risks and uncertainties

Aegirbio's activities involve risks and uncertainties that, 
to varying degrees, may impact the company’s ability 
to achieve the objectives set. The company is working 
continuously to address the risks and uncertainties it faces. 
This work is carried out systematically, with a view to make 
the risks transparent and limit the impact of emerging risks. 
For a more detailed description of the company's financial 
risks and how they are managed, see note 3.

Limited resources

Aegirbio AB is a small company with limited resources 
in terms of management, administration and capital. It is 
essential for the implementation of the strategy to make 
optimal use of the available resources. There is a risk that 
the Company’s resources will be insufficient and that the 
Company encounters financial and operational problems 
as a result. The Board of Directors is working continuously 
to ensure that the operational activities are sufficiently 
financed on the basis of different scenarios, including 
licensing revenue, partnership agreements and external 
funding.

Dependence of key individuals and personnel

Aegirbio AB's success relies on the know-how, experience 
and creativity of a small number of key individuals. The 
Company is dependent on its ability to recruit qualified 
employees in the future. The Company is making a 
considerable effort to reduce this dependence by 
ensuring that procedures and working methods are well 
documented.
Risks related to marketing

There is no way to guarantee that the products developed 
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by the Company will be as favourably received by 
the market as this annual report implies. The sales 
quantities may be lower and it may take longer to become 
established in the market than the Company currently has 
reason to believe.

Continued financing of activities

Aegirbio is a development company, which since its 
inception has been dependent on raising capital through 
new issues. The Board of Directors is continuously 
working to identify various long-term financing 
arrangements and has a strategy for further financing. 
During the spring of 2021, the Company entered a new 
phase with the sales launch of its COVID-19 tests, and an 
initial order of at least MSeK 40 has been received. The 
Board of Directors believes that the forecast sales will 
result in a positive cash flow for the Company in 2021, 
thus ensuring the going concern of the company for the 
forthcoming twelve-month period. 

In addition, the Company entered into an agreement 
for external debt financing after the end of the financial 
year, with a credit line of MSeK 50 which can be drawn 
at the level necessary until revenue start to flow to the 
Company from already concluded sales agreements 
– which, in the Board’s assessment, will be in the near 
future. The loan will be repaid in full in December 2021. 
The positive prospects of the Board notwithstanding, the 
continued funding involves some uncertainty  as the cash 
flows from projected sales are yet to materialize.

The impact of the coronavirus (COVID-19) on the 
Company’s activities

The effects of COVID-19 on the Company’s activities 
were mostly visible in connection with the tests of 
MonATor for Tysabri. Due to the coronavirus, patients 
do not visit their clinics as frequently. As a consequence 
of the overall shortage of healthcare staff, tests may 
also be downgraded in relation to the treatment of more 
acute conditions. The full impact of the pandemic on the 
coming year is currently difficult to assess. In the event 
that the company's partners and customers continue to 
be affected by restrictions, delays may occur in certain 
projects. The company's assessment is, however, that 
such effects would be felt only in the short term. 

Moreover, the company has identified significant 
opportunities that have resulted in a positive development 
of the company. In April, the company launched its rapid 
test for COVID-19, and distribution agreements totaling 
millions of SeK were concluded within a few weeks. 

The company has neither requested nor received any 
state aid related to the COVID-19 pandemic.

OWNERSHIP

Major shareholders

Number of 
shares and 

votes Holding

Abreos Sweden AB 3,125,000 26,18 %

lifeAssays AB 3,125,000 26,18 %

nordnet Pensionsförsäkring AB 517,332 4,33 %

Försäkringsbolaget, Avanza Pension 402,637 3,37 %

Mohamad Takwa 331,111 2,77 %

ecozyme AB 226,000 1,89 %

Staffansgården i Trää AB 1) 127,227 1,07 %

Johan Källstrand 80,000 0,67 %

robert Porter 71,280 0,60 %

Joakim Sellgren 64,468 0,54 %

SeB life International 59,144 0,50 %

Fredrik häglund 57,977 0,49 %

Other shareholders (3,620) 3,748,113 31,40 %

11,935,289 100

APPROPRIATIONS OF PROFIT OR LOSS
The Board of Directors’ proposal on appropriations of 
profit or loss: 

KSEK 

Share premium reserve 57,407

retained earnings 0

loss for the year -18,525

Total 38,882

The Board of Directors proposes that the funds at the 
disposal of the Annual general Meeting, KSeK 38,882, be 
carried forward. hence, it is proposed that no dividend 
be paid. In other regards, the earnings and position of 
the group and the Parent Company are presented below 
in the income statements, balance sheets, cash flow 
statements, statements of changes in equity and related 
notes and additional disclosures that form an integral part 
of this annual report.
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COnSOlIDATeD STATeMenT OF  COMPrehenSIVe InCOMe

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

KSEK Note

 
2020-10-23
2020-12-31

net sales -

Cost of goods sold -

Gross profit -

research and development costs 6,9,10 -7,462

Sales costs -226

Administrative costs 8 -2,877

Other operating income 7 218

Other operating costs -

Operating profit -10,347

Result from financial items

Interest income -

Interest costs -

Profit after financial items -10,347

-

Tax on profit for the period 12 -

Profit/loss for the period -10,347

Basic and diluted earnings per share, SeK 13 -1,19

There are no items recognized in other comprehensive income in the 
Group. Total comprehensive income thus equals profit/loss for the 
period.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF  
FINANCIAL POSITION

TSEK Note

 
 

2020-12-31

ASSETS

Fixed Assets 16

Intangible assets 14 30,883

rights of use 9 692

Tangible fixed assets 15 95

Total fixed assets 31,670

Current assets 18

Other receivables 16 2,018

Prepayments 114

Cash and cash equivalents 4 10,395

Total current assets 12,527

TOTAL ASSETS 44,197

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES 20

Equity attributable to Parent Company shareholders

Share capital 955

Other contributed capital 57,407

Retained earnings including profit for the year -19,443

Total equity 38,919

Non-current liabilities

Deferred tax liabilities

lease liabilities 692

Total non-current liabilities 692

Current liabilities 4, 18

Accounts payable 3,777

Other liabilities 56

Accruals 19 753

Total current liabilities 4,586

Total liabilities 5,278

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES 44,197
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COnSOlIDATeD CASh FlOW STATeMenT

CONSOLIDATED CASH FLOW STATEMENT

KSEK Note

 
2020-10-23
2020-12-31

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating profit -10,347

Depreciation/amortization 32

Other non-cash items -29

Financial income -

Financial costs -

Cash flow from operating activities before change in working capital -10,344

Change in working capital

Increase/Decrease in receivables -1,568

Increase/Decrease in current liabilities 4,507

Change in working capital 2,939

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES -7,405

Investing activities

Increase/Decrease in tangible fixed assets 15 -98

Increase/Decrease in intangible fixed assets 14 -

Increase/Decrease in financial fixed assets -

Cash flow from investing activities -98

Financing activities

exercise of warrants 230

Increase/Decrease in non-current liabilities -

Cash flow from financing activities 230

Change in cash and cash equivalents -7,273

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 17,668

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 10,395
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

KSEK Share capital
Other  

contributed capital

Retained  
earnings incl.  

profit for the year Total equity

Opening balance on October 23, 2020 833 30,180 -9,096 21,917

Transactions with shareholders

Acquisition of Viraspec AB 32 7,136 - 7,167

Acquisition of Thyrolytics AB 88 19,865 - 19,953

exercise of warrants 3 264 - 267

Warrant exercise costs - -37 - -37

Total comprehensive income

Profit/loss for the period - - -10,347 -10,347

Equity on December 31, 2020 955 57,407 -19,443 38,919
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PArenT COMPAny’S InCOMe STATeMenT

PARENT COMPANY’S INCOME STATEMENT

KSEK Note
2020-01-01 
2020-12-31

 
2019-10-14 
2020-12-31

Operating income

revenue 14 -

Cost of goods sold - -

Gross profit 14 -

Operating costs

research and development costs 6,9,10 -10,501 -

Sales costs -808 -

Administrative costs 8 -7,224 -

Other operating Income 7 - -

Other operating costs - -

Operating profit -18,519

Result from financial items

Interest income - -

Interest costs -6 -

Profit after financial items -18,525 -

Tax on profit for the period 12 - -

Profit/loss for the period -18,525 -

I moderbolaget finns inga poster som redovisas i övrigt totalresultat 
varför summa totalresultat överensstämmer med årets resultat. 
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PARENT COMPANY’S BALANCE SHEET

TSEK Note 2020-12-31

 
 

2019-12-31

ASSETS

Fixed Assets

Intangible assets 14 3,220 801

Tangible fixed assets 15 - -

Participations in group companies 17,24 27,121 -

Total fixed assets 30,341 801

Current assets

Other receivables 18 3,500 101

Cash and cash equivalents 16 10,277 49

Total current assets 13,777 150

TOTAL ASSETS 44,118 951

EQUITY AND LIABILITIES

Equity 20

Share capital 955 500

Share premium reserve 57,407 351

retained earnings - -

Profit/loss for the period -18,525 -

Total equity 39,837 851

Current liabilities

Accounts payable 3,512 100

Other liabilities 73 -

Accruals 696 -

Total current liabilities 4,281 100

TOTAL EQUITY & LIABILITIES 44,118 951
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PARENT COMPANY’S CASH FLOW STATEMENT

KSEK Note

 
2020-01-01
2020-12-31

 
2019-10-14
2019-12-31

OPERATING ACTIVITIES

Operating profit -18,519 -

Depreciation/amortization - -

Financial income - -

Financial costs -6 -

Cash flow from operating activities before change in working capital -18,525 -

Change in working capital

Increase/Decrease in receivables -3,400 -101

Increase/Decrease in current liabilities 4,181 100

Change in working capital 781 -1

CASH FLOW FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES -17,744 -1

Investing activities

Increase/Decrease in tangible fixed assets - -

Increase/Decrease in intangible fixed assets 14 -2,419 -801

Increase/Decrease in financial fixed assets - -

Cash flow from investing activities -2,419 -801

Financing activities

new issue 30,077 851

Acquisitions - -

Warrant proceeds 314 -

Cash flow from financing activities 30,391 851

Change in cash and cash equivalents 10,228 49

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period 49 -

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period 10,277 49
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PARENT COMPANY’S CHANGES IN EQUITY

KSEK Share capital
Share  

premium reserve

Retained earnings  
incl. profit  

for the year Total

Opening balance on October 14, 2019 - - - -

Company formation 50 - - 50

Offset issue 450 351 - 801

Profit/loss for the year - - - -

Closing balance on December 31, 2019 500 351 - 851

Opening balance on January 1, 2020 500 351 - 851

Transactions with shareholders

Board warrant proceeds - 340 - 340

Pre-IPO 36 3,747 - 3,783

new issue (IPO) in connection with listing 197 18,321 - 18,518

Issuance costs in connection with listing - -3,613 - -3,613

exercise of warrants 102 11,382 - 11,484

Warrant exercise costs - -121 - -121

Acquisition of Viraspec AB 32 7,136 - 7,168

Acquisition of Thyrolytics AB 88 19,865 - 19,953

Total comprehensive income

Profit/loss for the period - - -18,525 -18,525

Equity on December 31, 2020 955 57,407 -18,525 39,837
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NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 – GENERAL INFORMATION 

Aegirbio AB, reg. no. 559222–2953, is the parent company 
of the Aegirbio group. Aegirbio AB has its registered office 
in lund, Sweden.

This annual report covers the period January–
December 2020 for the Parent Company and the period 
between 2020-10-23 and 2020-12-31 for the group. The 
annual report has been approved for publication pursuant 
to the Board of Directors’ decision on June 14, 2021.

Amounts are stated in thousands of SeK (KSeK) 
unless otherwise specified. Numbers within parentheses 
refer to the preceding period.

NOTE 2 – SUMMARY OF IMPORTANT  
ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The most important accounting policies applied in the 
preparation of these consolidated financial statements are 
set forth below. Unless otherwise specified, these policies 
have been applied consistently for all presented years.

Bases for preparation of the financial statements 

The consolidated financial statements of Aegirbio AB 
(publ) are prepared in accordance with the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act,  rFr 1 Supplementary Accounting 
rules for groups, and the International Financial reporting 
Standards (IFrS) and interpretations of the IFrS 
Interpretations Committee (IFrS IC) as adopted by the eU. 
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with 
the cost model.

The preparation of reports in compliance with IFrS 
requires the use of certain important estimates for 
accounting purposes. Furthermore, management must 
make certain judgments when applying the group’s 
accounting principles. The areas that involve a high 
degree of judgement and are complex, or such areas 
for which assumptions and estimates are of material 
importance to the consolidated financial statements, are 
primarily the balance sheet item Capitalized development 

expenditure. For additional information, please refer to the 
section about the Parent Company’s accounting policies.

On October 23, 2020, the subsidiaries Viraspec AB 
and Thyrolytics AB were acquired, and a group was 
formed. In conjunction with the formation of the group, 
the Parent Company changed accounting principle, 
from application of K3 (BFnAr 2012:1) to reporting 
in accordance with the Swedish Financial reporting 
Board’s recommendations rFr 2 Accounting for legal 
entities. rFr 2 must be applied by Parent Companies 
that prepare consolidated accounts in accordance with 
IFrS. In connection with the transition from K3 to rFr 
2, no changeover effects were identified for the Parent 
Company. For the group, there are no changeover effects 
as the consolidated financial statements are prepared 
in accordance with IFrS since the group’s formation on 
October 23, 2020.

New IFRS and interpretations that have not yet been 
put into practice

new or revised IFrS, including statements, which up to 
this point have been adopted by the IASB for application 
in 2021 or later, are not deemed to have any material 
effect on the consolidated financial statements.

Consolidated financial statements
Subsidiaries
Subsidiaries are all companies in which the group holds 
a controlling influence. The Group controls a company 
when it is exposed to or is entitled to variable returns from 
its holding in the company and is able to influence the 
return through the influence it exercises in the company. 
Subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial 
statements as of the date when the controlling influence 
is transferred to the group. They are excluded from the 
consolidated financial statements as of the date on which 
the controlling influence ceases.

When recognizing the group's business acquisitions, 
the purchase method is used. The purchase price for the 
acquisition of a subsidiary consists of the fair value of 
transferred assets, liabilities that the group incurs to the 
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previous owners of the acquiree and the shares issued 
by the Group. Identifiable acquired assets and assumed 
liabilities in a business acquisition are initially measured 
at fair value on the acquisition date.

Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.
Intra-group transactions, balance-sheet items, and 

revenue and costs arising from transactions between 
group companies are eliminated. gains and losses arising 
from intra-group transactions that are recognized as assets 
are also eliminated. Where appropriate, the accounting 
policies for subsidiaries have been changed to ensure 
consistent application of the group’s policies.

Segment reporting

Since AegirBio conducts research and development, the 
management has to follow up the group as a cohesive 
unit. AegirBio conducts only a single operation and the 
operation is followed up as a single operating segment.

Translation of foreign currency
Functional currency and reporting currency
The various units in the group use the local currency 
as their functional currency, as the local currency has 
been defined as the currency used in the economic 
environment in which each unit primarily operates. In the 
consolidated financial statements, the Swedish krona 
(SeK) is used. This is the Parent Company’s functional 
currency and the group’s reporting currency.

Transactions and balance sheet items

Transactions in foreign currency are translated to the 
functional currency in accordance with the exchange 
rates applicable on the transaction date. exchange rate 
gains and losses that arise in conjunction with payments 
of such transactions or in conjunction with translation of 
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currency at the exchange rate on the balance sheet 
date are recognized as operating profit in the income 
statement.

Intangible fixed assets
Capitalized expenditure for product development
The group conducts research and development relating 
to new products. research expenses are recognized 
as incurred. expenditure that is directly attributable to 
the development of identifiable and unique products 
is recognized as intangible assets when the following 
criteria are fulfilled:

• It is technically possible to complete the product for 
use or sale,

• The intention of the company is to complete the 
product and use it or sell it,

• Conditions are established for the use or sale of the 
product,

• The way in which the product will generate probable 
future economic benefits can be demonstrated,

• Adequate technical, financial and other resources are 
available to complete the development and use or sell 
the product, and

• The expenses that are attributable to the product 
during its development can be calculated reliably.

Directly attributable expenses that are capitalized also 
include personnel costs and a fair share of indirect costs. 
Other development expenditure that does not fulfill 
these conditions is expensed as incurred. Development 
expenditure previously recognized as expense is not 
recognized as an asset in a subsequent period.

Amortization commences when the respective 
projects are deemed ready for commercialization. 
Capitalized development expenditure is amortized over 
the estimated useful life, which is estimated at five years.

Patents

expenditure for internally generated patents is expensed 
as incurred..

Tangible fixed assets

Tangible fixed assets are recognized at cost less 
depreciation. The cost includes such expenses that are 
directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset.

Additional expenses are added to the carrying amount 
of the asset or recognized as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only where it is likely that the future economic 
benefits associated with the asset will flow to the Group 
and the cost of the asset can be measured in a reliable 
manner.

Tangible fixed assets are depreciated on a straight-
line basis as follows:

• Machinery and equipment: 5 years

The residual value and useful life of the assets are 
assessed on each balance sheet date and adjusted 
as required. The carrying amount of each asset is 
immediately written down to the recoverable amount if 
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the carrying amount exceeds the estimated recoverable 
amount.

Gains or losses from divestments of tangible fixed 
assets are established through a comparison between 
the sales revenue and the carrying amount, and are 
recognized, as appropriate, in other operating income or 
other operating costs in the income statement.

Impairment of non-financial fixed assets

Intangible assets with an indeterminate useful life and 
intangible assets that are not ready for use are not 
amortized; instead, an annual assessment of the need for 
impairment is conducted. Assets that are depreciated/
amortized are assessed for impairment whenever events 
or new conditions provide indication that the carrying 
amount may not be recoverable. The asset’s value is 
written down by the amount by which the carrying amount 
exceeds the recoverable value. The recoverable value is 
the higher of of the fair value of the asset less cost to sell 
and value in use of the asset. When tested for impairment, 
assets are grouped on the lowest levels where there are 
separate, identifiable cash flows (cash-generating units). 
Previously written down assets are tested for reversal on 
each balance sheet date.

Financial instruments

Financial assets comprise cash and cash equivalents, 
accounts receivable and other receivables to be settled 
in cash. Financial liabilities comprise accounts payable 
and other liabilities to be settled in cash.

 
Reporting and measurement on initial recognition

Accounts receivable and debt instruments issued are 
recognized when they are issued. A regular way purchase 
or sale of financial assets is recognized as at the trade 
date. Other financial assets and financial liabilities 
are recognized when the group becomes party to the 
contractual provisions of the instrument.

Financial instruments are initially measured at fair 
value plus or minus transaction costs, except such 
instruments that on a continuing basis are measured  at 
fair value through profit or loss, where transaction costs 
instead are expensed as incurred. Accounts receivable 
(without a significant financing component) are initially 
measured at the transaction price determined in 
accordance with IFrS 15.

All of the Group’s financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost, as they are not intended for trading.

Classification and subsequent measurement
At initial measurement, a financial asset is classified 
as measured at amortized cost, fair value through 
other comprehensive income  (investments in debt 
instruments), fair value through other comprehensive 
income (investments in equity instruments), or fair value 
through profit or loss. The amortized cost is reduced by 
impairment losses. Interest income, foreign exchange 
gains and losses, and impairment losses are recognized 
through profit/loss. Gains or losses arising from 
derecognition are recognized in profit/loss.

At subsequent measurement, financial liabilities are 
measured at amortized cost using the effective interest 
method. Interest costs and foreign exchange gains and 
losses are recognized through profit/loss. Gains and losses 
from derecognition are also recognized through profit/loss.

The classification of the Group’s various holdings of 
financial assets is set out below:

Financial assets

All financial assets are recognized at amortized cost 
using the effective interest method. This is because they 
are held within a business model with the objective to 
collect the contractual cash flows, and the cash flows 
from the assets at the same time solely consist of 
payments of principal and interest.

The effective interest rate is the interest rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments 
or receipts through the expected life of the financial 
instrument to the gross carrying amount of a financial 
asset or the amortized cost of a financial liability.

Derecognition of financial assets and financial liabili-
ties from the balance sheet

The Group derecognizes a financial asset from the 
Balance Sheet when the contractual rights to the cash 
flows from the financial asset expire, or when the Group 
transfers the right to receive the contractual cash flows 
by means of a transaction where all material risks and 
rewards of the ownership are transferred.

The Group derecognizes a financial liability from the 
statement of financial position when the obligations 
specified in the contract are discharged or cancelled or 
expires.

Set-off

Financial assets and liabilities are set off and 
recognized at a net amount in the balance sheet, but 
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only when there is a legal right to set off the recognized 
amounts and an intention to settle them with a net 
amount or to simultaneously realize the asset and 
settle the debt. The legal right may not be dependent 
on future events and must be legally binding on the 
company and the counterparty, both in normal business 
operations and in the event of suspension of payments, 
insolvency or bankruptcy.

Impairment of financial assets

A reserve for anticipated credit losses is calculated and 
recognized for the financial assets that are measured 
at amortized cost. For accounts receivable and lease 
receivables, a simplified method is applied, whereby the 
reserve for credit losses is calculated and recognized 
based on expected credit losses for the remaining life 
of the financial asset. The calculation of expected credit 
losses is based mainly on historical loss information for 
similar receivables and counterparties. The historical 
information is continuously evaluated and adjusted based 
on the current situation and the group’s expectations 
regarding future events.

Credit losses are measured as the present value of all 
cash shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the company’s 
contractual cash flows and the cash flows that the Group 
expects to receive). expected credit losses are discounted 
at the effective interest rate of the financial asset.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset 
is derecognized when the group has no reasonable 
expectations of recovering the asset, in whole or in part.

Accounts receivable

Accounts receivable are amounts due from customers 
for goods sold or services performed in the ordinary 
course of the operating activities. If payment is expected 
within one year (or in the normal operation cycle, if this 
extends over a longer period), the receivable is classified 
as a current asset. If not, it is reported as a fixed asset.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents is defined as cash and bank 
balances.

Equity

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Transaction 
costs that are directly attributable to the issue of new 
ordinary shares or warrants are recognized in equity as a 
deduction from the issue proceeds.

Fund for development costs

To the extent that the Parent Company has internally 
developed intangible assets, the capitalized amount 
is transferred from non-restricted equity to fund for 
development costs less amortization on capitalizations.

Accounts payable

Accounts payable are financial instruments and relate 
to obligations to pay for goods or services acquired 
from suppliers in the course of the operating activities. 
Accounts payable are classified as current liabilities if 
they fall due for payment within one year. If not, they are 
classified as non-current liabilities.

Accounts receivable are initially recognized at fair 
value and subsequently at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.

Current and deferred tax

Tax cost for the period comprises current tax and deferred 
tax. Tax is recognized in profit and loss, except when 
the tax is related to items that are recognized in other 
comprehensive income or in equity. In such cases, the 
associated tax is also recognized in other comprehensive 
income or equity, respectively.

The current tax cost is calculated based on the tax 
rules enacted or announced as at the balance sheet date 
in those countries where the Parent Company and its 
subsidiaries conduct operations and generate taxable 
revenue. The management regularly evaluates the claims 
made in tax returns with regard to situations where the 
applicable tax rules are subject to interpretation, and, when 
considered appropriate, makes provisions for amounts that 
are likely to be payable to the tax authorities.

Deferred tax is recognized for all temporary 
differences that arise between the tax base of assets and 
liabilities and the carrying amount in the consolidated 
financial statements. Deferred tax liabilities are not 
recognized when they arise on initial recognition of 
goodwill.

Deferred tax assets are recognized to the extent that it 
is probable that taxable profits will be available in the future 
against which temporary differences can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when 
there is a legally enforceable right to offset current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the 
deferred tax assets and tax iabilities relate to taxes 
levied by the same taxation authority  and relate either 
to the same taxable entity or to different taxable entities 
that intend to settle balances through net payments.
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Remuneration to employees
Pension obligations
The Group only has defined contribution plans. A defined 
contribution pension plan is a pension plan pursuant to 
which the Group pays fixed contributions to a separate 
legal entity. The group has no legal or informal obligations 
to pay additional contributions if the legal entity has 
insufficient assets to pay all compensation to employees 
relating to the employees’ service during a current or 
earlier period.

In respect of defined contribution plans, the Group 
pays contributions to publicly or privately administered 
pension insurance plans pursuant to mandatory or 
contractual obligations or on a voluntary basis. The group 
has no further payment obligations once the contributions 
are paid. The contributions are recognized as personnel 
costs when they fall due for payment. Prepaid 
contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent the 
Group may benefit from cash repayments or a reduction 
in future payments

Share-based incentive programmes

An outstanding warrant programme to be settled 
in shares has been issued to persons discharging 
managerial responsibilities and other key individuals for 
consideration amounting to the fair value of the warrants. 
Because the participants paid fair value, no benefit 
was incurred and no cost is reported for the warrant 
programme. Consideration received has been reported 
directly in equity.

Revenue recognition

The group’s revenue is attributable to sales of diagnostic 
tests and is recognized as revenue in the period when 
delivery has been accepted by the customer.

Leasing

When a contract is concluded, the group determines 
whether the contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract 
is, or contains, a lease if it conveys the right to direct 
the use of an identified asset for a specific period of 
time in exchange for consideration.

At the start of the lease, or when reviewing a lease that 
contains several components – both lease and non-lease 
–  the group allocates consideration under the contract 
to each component based on the independent price. For 
leases of premises in which the group is the lessee, the 

group has, however, deciced not to distinguish between 
lease and non-lease components and recognizes lease 
and non-lease components paid for with a fixed amount 
as a single lease component.

Leases where the Group is the lessee

The group recognizes a right-of-use asset and a lease 
liability on the commencement date of the lease. The 
right-of-use asset is measured initially at cost, which 
consists of the initial value of the lease liability and lease 
payments made at or before the commencement date, 
plus any initial direct expences. The right-of-use asset is 
depreciated in a straight line from the commencement 
date until the earlier of the end of the assets useful life 
and the end of the lease term. For the group, this is 
normally the end of the lease term.

lease liabilities – divided into a non-current part 
and a current part – are initially measured at the 
present value of outstanding lease payments during the 
estimated lease term. The lease term consists of the 
interminable term plus additional terms in the lease if, at 
the commencement date, it is deemed reasonably certain 
that these will be used.

The lease payments are normally discounted by the 
group’s marginal borrowing rate, which, in addition to the 
Group's/Company’s credit risk, reflects each lease’s term, 
currency and quality of the underlying asset as intended 
security. however, in such cases where the implicit 
interest rate of the lease is easily determined, that rate is 
used.

The lease liability comprises the present value of the 
following payments during the estimated lease term:

• fixed payments, including substantially fixed payments,
• variable lease payments linked to an index or rate, 

initially measured using the index or rate applicable at 
the commencement date,

• the exercise price for a call that the group is reasonably 
certain it will exercise and

• penalties payable on termination of the lease if the 
estimated lease term indicates that such termination 
will occur.

The value of the liability increases with the interest 
expense for each period and decreases with the lease 
payments. The interest expense is calculated as the 
liability’s value times the discount rate.
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The lease liability for the group’s premises with indexed 
rent is calculated at the rent applicable at the end of each 
reporting period. At this time, the liability is adjusted by 
the corresponding adjustment of the right-of-use asset’s 
recognized value. Correspondingly, the liability’s and 
the asset's values are adjusted when the lease term is 
reviewed. This takes place in connection with the expiry of 
the final termination date within the previously determined 
lease term for a premises lease, or upon the occurrence 
of either a significant event or a significant change in 
circumstances that is within the control of the group and 
affects the current determination of the lease term.

The group discloses right-of-use assets and lease 
liabilities separately in the statement of financial position. 
For leases with a term of 12 months or less, or with an 
underlying asset of low value (less than KSeK 50), no 
right-of-use asset or lease liability is recognized. lease 
payments for these leases are recognized as an expense 
over the lease term on a straight-line basis.

Cash flow statement

The cash flow statement is drawn up using an indirect 
method. This means that the operating profit is adjusted 
for transactions that have not resulted in cash inflows 
or outflows during the period as well as for any revenue 
and costs attributable to the cash flows of investment or 
financing activities

Earnings per share

earnings per share before dilution is calculated by 
dividing the earnings attributable to the Parent Company's 
shareholders by a weighted average number of ordinary 
shares during the period.

Parent Company’s accounting policies

The Parent Company prepares its annual report in 
accordance with the Swedish Annual Accounts Act and 
the Swedish Financial reporting Board’s recommendation 
rFr 2 Accounting for legal entities and statements on 
emerging issues. Pursuant to the rFr 2 rules, the Parent 
Company must, in the annual report for the legal entity, 
apply all IFrS/IAS standards and statements adopted by 
the eU to the extent that is possible within the framework 
of the Annual Accounts Act and with consideration to 
the relationship between accounting and taxation. The 
recommendation specifies the exceptions to be made 
to IFrS/IAS. The Parent Company applies the same 

accounting policies as specified for the Group, with the 
following exceptions:

Shares in subsidiaries

Investments in subsidiaries are recognized using the cost 
method. This means that the holdings are recognized at 
cost less any impairment in the balance sheet. Dividends 
from subsidiaries are reported as dividend income.

Recognition of Group contributions

group contributions are recognized according to the 
alternative rule in rFr 2, which means that both paid 
and received group contributions are recognized as 
appropriations in the income statement.

Financial instruments

The Parent Company has elected not to apply IFrS 9 for 
financial instruments. Nevertheless, some of the policies 
of IFrS 9 are still applicable – including in relation to 
impairment, recognition/derecognition, and the effective 
interest method for interest income and interest costs. 
In the Parent Company, financial assets are measured at 
cost less impairment, and current assets according to the 
principle of lowest value. For financial assets recognized 
at amortized cost, the IFrS 9 rules for impairment are 
applied.

Leased assets

The Parent Company does not apply IFrS 16, in 
accordance with the exemption in rFr 2. As a lessee, 
lease payments are recognized as an expense over the 
lease term on a straight-line basis. hence, right-of-use 
assets and lease liabilities are not recognized in the 
balance sheet. In the same manner as in the consolidated 
financial statements, lease and non-lease components are 
not separated for premises. Instead, lease and non-lease 
components are recognized as a single lease component 
for these types of underlying assets. The agreements in 
which the Parent Company is a lessor are recognized as 
operating leases.

Format of the income statement and balance sheet

The Parent Company follows the format of the Swedish 
Annual Accounts Act, which, among other things, implies 
a different  breakdown of equity. For this reason, the 
Parent Company reports the item cash and bank balances 
separately in its balance sheet.



38 AEGIRBIO Annual Report 2020

nOTeS TO The FInAnCIAl STATeMenTS

NOTE 3 – FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Through its activities, the group is exposed to different 
types of financial risk, including market risk, liquidity risk 
and credit risk. Market risk primarily comprises currency 
risk, interest rate risk and price risk. It is the Board of 
Directors of the company that is ultimately responsible for 
the exposure, management and monitoring of the group’s 
financial risk, and this framework is assessed and revised 
on an annual basis.

Market risk
Currency risk
The group has a foreign subsidiary and is, therefore, 
exposed to translation exposure. hedging of the exposure 
arising from the translation of the assets and liabilities 
of subsidiaries to Swedish kronor (SeK) is assessed 
on a case-by-case basis and made on the basis of the 
consolidated value of the net assets. The Group’s fixed 
assets are predominantly Swedish, with the exception 
of tangible fixed assets of KSEK 95 located in England, 
corresponding to 0.2 percent of the assets. no hedging 
has been carried out. The exposure arising from the 
translation of foreign subsidiaries’ profit to Swedish 
kronor is usually not subject to hedging.

Translation exposure

The following table breaks down the group's net assets by 
currency:

Currency KSEK
Sensitivity 
analysis1)

gBP 95 9.5

1) A +/- 10 % difference in exchange rate would have this impact on the 
Group’s equity

The following table breaks down the group's purchases 
denominated in foreign currency by currency:

Currency KSEK
Sensitivity 
analysis1)

USD 3,538 353.8
eUr 545 54.5
gBP 5 0.5

1) A +/- 10 % difference in exchange rate would have this impact on the 
Group’s equity

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future 
cash flows will fluctuate as a consequence of changes 
in market interest rates. The Company’s assessment is 

that it currently is not exposed to any material interest 
rate risks.

Liquidity and financing risk.

liquidity risk refers to the risk that the group faces 
difficulties in meeting its commitments related to financial 
liabilities. Financing risk refers to the risk that the group is 
unable to raise sufficient financing at a reasonable cost.

The company is continuously working on various 
financing options to bridge the time until a positive cash 
flow can be achieved. At the balance sheet date, the Group 
had cash and cash equivalents totaling KSeK 10,395, which 
corresponds to the maximum credit exposure.

Credit and counterparty risk

The group had cash and cash equivalents of KSeK 10,395 
as of December 31, 2020. The counterparties for cash and 
cash equivalents are banks rated AAA/Stable according 
to Standard & Poor's credit ratings.

Impairment of cash and cash equivalents is measured 
as expected loss on a 12-month basis and reflects the 
short maturities of exposure. The group considers the 
credit risk associated with cash and cash equivalents to be 
low based on the external credit ratings of the counterpar-
ties. The expected credit loss for cash and cash equiva-
lents was assessed to be immaterial and is therefore not 
reported. 

 

NOTE 4 – FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair value of financial assets and liabilities is shown 
in the table below. See also note 3, Financial risk 
management.

Group 
2020-12-31

KSEK

Financial  
assets 

measured at 
amortized cost

Financial 
assets 

measured 
at fair value 

through other 
comprehensive 

income  

Financial 
liabilities 

measured at 
amortized cost

Cash and cash 
equivalents

10,395

Accounts payable 3,777

Other liabilities 56

Accruals 753

Summa 10,395 0 4,586
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Contractual payments – the Group 
2020-12-31

KSEK
Accounts 

payable Leases

Within 1 month 3,777 20

Within 2-12 months 216

Within 13-60 months 383

Total 3,777 619

Net profit/loss for each class of financial 
instruments:

The group has no net gains/losses to report for the 
various financial instruments.

Fair values

Carrying amounts constitute reasonable approximations 
of fair values.

NOTE 5 – IMPORTANT ESTIMATES AND 
ASSESSMENTS FOR ACCOUNTING PURPOSES

estimates and assessments are reviewed regularly 
and are based on past experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are 
judged to be reasonable taking current conditions into 
consideration.

Important estimates and assessments for 
accounting purposes

The group makes estimates and assumptions about 
the future. By definition, the estimates for accounting 
purposes that follow from such estimates and 
assumptions will not always correspond to the actual 
outcome. The estimates and assumptions that involve 
a material risk of significant adjustments to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities during the next financial 
year are set out in general terms below.

Intangible assets

Aegirbio is, to some extent, dependent on its ability to 
obtain protection of its intangible assets. The Company’s 
intellectual property rights are primarily protected by 
patents and patent applications. Filed patent applications 
confer the same rights which a patent would, provided that 
the patent eventually is granted. The content of the patent 
portfolio is detailed in the annual report. The research 
and development work carried out by Aegirbio and in 

cooperation with partners continuously generates new 
patentable ideas for the Company, within existing projects 
as well as in new areas. These ideas are carefully assessed 
by the Company and by patent agents consulted by the 
Company. Whether to file a patent application for a certain 
invention is decided on a case-by-case basis.

Valuation of intangible fixed assets

The recognized capitalized expenditure for development 
work is subject to impairment testing by the 
management. The most critical assumption, which is 
subject to evaluation by the management, is whether the 
intangible asset is expected to generate future economic 
benefits corresponding at least to the carrying amount of 
the intangible asset. The management’s assessment is 
that the expected future cash flows will be sufficient to 
cover the carrying amount of the intangible asset, but the 
financial resources required to complete development 
depend on the Company’s ability to obtain future 
financing. Moreover, the valuation is dependent on the 
assumption of going concern.

Capitalized expenditure for product development

The Company capitalizes expenses attributable to the 
development of medical products to the extent that the 
criteria in IAS 38 p. 57 are considered to be satisfied.

Conditions for going concern

The annual report has been prepared under the 
assumption of going concern. The Company has in the 
past reported losses as a result of its development work, 
and all capital has been raised with equity financing. In 
the preparation of the annual report, the management 
has based its assumptions on the existing cash and cash 
equivalents and expected additional financing through 
sales of the company's products and external debt 
financing.

In the estimation of future expenses, the 
management has taken into account that some 
expenses are under the control of the management and 
thus can be eliminated or deferred. During the spring of 
2021, the Company entered a new phase with the sales 
launch of its COVID-19 tests, and an initial order of at 
least MSeK 40 has been received. The Board of Directors 
believes that the forecast sales will result in a positive 
cash flow for the Company in 2021, thus ensuring the 
going concern of the company for the forthcoming 
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twelve-month period. 
In addition, the Company entered into an agreement 

for external debt financing after the end of the financial 
year, with a credit line of MSeK 50 which can be drawn 
at the level necessary until revenue start to flow to the 
Company from already concluded sales agreements 
– which, in the Board’s assessment, will be in the near 
future. The loan will be repaid in full in December 2021. 
The positive prospects of the Board notwithstanding, 
the continued funding involves some uncertainty  as the 
cash flows from projected sales are yet to materialize.

Should the group, for any reason, be unable to 
continue operations, this may impact the group's ability 
to realize the carrying values of the assets, in particular 
the capitalized expenditure for development work, as 
well as its ability to pay its debts at normal pace and in 
the amounts set out in the Group's financial statements. 

NOTE 6 – BREAKDOWN OF OPERATING 
COSTS BY CATEGORY

In the statement of comprehensive income, the operating 
costs are classified based on the functions “Research and 
development costs”, “Sales costs” and “Administrative 
costs”. The total costs classified by function breaks down 
into the following cost categories.

Parent Company Group
KSEK 2020 2019 2020 2019
raw materials and 
consumables

4,491 - 4,879 -

Other external 
charges

13,115 - 5,908 -

Personnel costs 927 - 783 -
Depreciation/
amortization - - 3 -
Other operating 
costs - - 4 -

Total research & 
development, sales, 
and administrative 
costs 18,533 0 11,577 0

NOTE 7 – OTHER OPERATING INCOME

Parent Company Group
KSEK 2020 2019 2020*
received 
contributions

- - 218

Total - - 218

* 2020-10-23 – 2020-12-31

NOTE 8 – DISCLOSURE OF AUDITOR'S FEE 
AND REIMBURSEMENT

Parent Company Group
KSEK 2020 2019 2020 2019
KPMG
Audit engagements 79 79
Audit work in 
addition to the audit 
engagement 

332 332

Tax consultancy 8 8
Other engagements 9 9

TOTAL 428 428

Audit engagements means fees related to the statutory 
audit, that is, such work that has been necessary in order 
to provide the audit report, as well as so-called audit 
advice provided in connection with the audit engagement. 
Audit work in addition to the audit engagement means 
fees related to various types of quality assurance ser-
vices. Other engagements means services not included in 
audit engagements, audit work or tax consultancy.

NOTE 9 – LEASES

Parent Company
Operating leases
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KSEK 2020* 2019
Lease cost 30 -
The nominal value of future lease payments  
can be broken down as follows: 240 -
Maturity within 1 year 452 -

Between 2 and 5 years 692 -

Residual maturity, total

* 2020-10-23 – 2020-12-31

Group

The group recognizes leases in accordance with IFrS 
16 as of October 23, 2020, and where Aegirbio AB is the 
lessee. These leases relate to the rental of premises 
and leasing of a passenger car and are recognized in 
accordance with IFrS 16, where rights of use, lease 
liability, interest and depreciation are based on the 
original maturities of these contracts. The accounting 
policies are explained in note 2 Summary of important 
accounting policies under the heading ‘IFrS 16 leases’. 
A maturity analysis of lease liabilities is provided in note 
4 Financial assets and liabilities.

Amounts recognized in profit or loss:

KSEK
2020-10-23 

 – 2020-12-31

Depreciation and interest charges 30

Amounts recognized in the balance sheet:

KSEK
 

2020-12-31

rights of use 692

lease liabilities 692

NOTE 10 – AVERAGE NUMBER OF  
EMPLOYEES, PERSONNEL COSTS,  
PENSIONS AND OTHER

Average number of 
employees

Parent Company Group
2020 2019 2020 2019

number of 
employees

1 - 1 -

Of whom men 1 - 1 -

Senior  
executives

Moderbolag Koncern
2020 2019 2020 2019

Board members 5 5 5 -

Of whom men 5 5 5 -

Other employees in 
management, incl. 
the CeO

1 0 1 - 

Of whom men 1 0 1 - 
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Remuneration and benefits
Salaries for the year, Parent Company and Group

2020  
(KSEK) Board fee

Basic 
salary

Variable 
remunera-

tion

Other 
remunera-

tion
Pension 

costs

Social 
security 

contribu-
tions Total

Anders Ingvarsson, Chairman of the Board1) - - - 300 - - 300

Seppo Mäkinen, board member 95 - - 55 - 30 180

Bradley Messmer, board member1) - - - - - - -

Kristian enkvist, board member 95 - - - - 30 125

Fredrik häglund, board member 95 - - - - 30 125

Martin linde, CeO - 600 - 501 - 189 1 290

Total, Board of Directors and CEO 285 600 - 856 - 279 2 020

Other employees - - - - - -

Total 285 600 - 856 - 279 2 020

1) Board fee is not paid to employees of the parent company or associated companies.

Salaries for the year, Parent Company

2019  
(KSEK) Board fee

Basic 
salary

Variable 
remunera-

tion

Other 
remunera-

tion
Pension 

costs

Social 
security 

contribu-
tions Total

Martin linde, Chairman of the Board - - - - - - -

Seppo Mäkinen, board member - - - - - - -

Bradley Messmer, board member - - - - - - -

Kristian enkvist, board member - - - - - - -

Fredrik häglund, board member - - - - - - -

Anders Ingvarsson, CeO - - - - - - -

Total, Board of Directors and CEO - - - - - - -

Other employees - - - - - - -

Total - - - - - - -

Other remuneration

Other remuneration consists of consultancy services 
relating mainly to business development and market 
analyses, conducted on market conditions. Consultancy 
services provided by Martin linde relate to the time 
before he took office as CEO.

Severance pay 

Between the Company and the Chief Executive Officer, 
there is a notice period of six months and three months, 
respectively.

no contractual severance payment is awarded to the 

Chief Executive Officer. 

Share-based incentive programmes

An outstanding warrant programme to be settled 
in shares has been issued to persons discharging 
managerial responsibilities and other key individuals for 
consideration amounting to the fair value of the warrants. 
Because the participants paid fair value, no benefit 
was incurred and no cost is reported for the warrant 
programme. Consideration received has been reported 
directly in equity.
NOTE 11 – RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(Not 10, forts.)
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Transactions with the related companies AegirBio 
UK, lifeAssays AB and Abreos Bioscience ltd mainly 
consist of research and development costs related to the 
development of COVID-19 tests and initial technology 
transfers to Aegirbio. Transactions with Martin linde, 
Anders Ingvarsson, Seppo Mäkinen and Mohamad 
Takwa comprise consultancy services, mostly related to 
business development. The services have been valued 
on market terms. 

Related party transactions

2020 (KSEK)

AegirBio ltd (UK) 862

lifeAssays AB (Publ) 4,963 

Abreos Bioscience ltd 3,538

Staffansgården i Trää AB  
(owned by Martin linde, CeO) 501

Ingvarsson Consulting AB  
(owned by Anders Ingvarsson, Chairman of the Board) 300

Seppo Mäkinen, board member 55

enkvist Development AB  
(owned by Kristian enkvist, board member) 21

ecozyme  
(owned by Mohamad Takwa, CeO of Thyrolytics) 196

Total  10,436

Related party transactions

2019 (KSEK)

-

NOTE 12 – TAX ON PROFIT FOR THE YEAR

KSEK
Parent Company Group

2020* 2019 2020 2019
Tax cost
Current tax cost - - -
Deferred tax - - -
Total tax cost - - -

Profit/loss before 
tax

-18,525 -10,347

Reconciliation of 
effective tax

-

Tax according to the 
applicable tax rate, 
21.4% (21.4%)

3,964 - 2,214

Tax effects of non-
deductible costs

- - -

Tax effects of non-
taxable income

- - -

Tax effects of 
issuance costs 
reported directly to 
equity

773 - 773

Unvalued tax loss 
carryforwards

-4,737 - -2,987

Total 0 0 0

Accumulated tax loss carryforwards, for which deferred 
tax assets are not recognized, provisionally amounts to 
KSeK 19,956 (0) for the group and KSeK 18,525 (0) for 
the Parent Company. The tax loss carryforwards have no 
expiration date. The deferred tax has not been recognized 
because of the difficulty in assessing when future 
taxable profit will be available against which these loss 
carryforwards can be utilized.

NOTE 13 – EARNINGS PER SHARE

Earnings per share, calculated as profit attributable to 
parent company shareholders for the year (stated in SeK 
per share) divided by the average number of shares as of 
December 31, which amounted to 8,689,532 shares.  

The share

The Aegirbio AB (publ) share was listed on nasdaq First 
north growth Market in Stockholm on June 22, 2020. 

As at December 31, 2020, the number of shares in the 
Company amounted to 11,935,289. The corresponding 
number on December 31, 2019, was 12,500,000 shares. 
In early 2020, a reverse share split was carried out at a 
ratio of 2:1.

There is one class of shares. each share has equal 
right to shares in the Company's assets and profit, and 
entitles to one vote in the general Meeting. The nominal 
value of the share is SeK 0.08, and the registered share 
capital amounts to SeK 954,823.12.

The weighted average number of shares in 2020 
amounted to 8,689,532 before full dilution and 9.873,521 
after full dilution. Basic earnings per share for the Parent 
Company amounted to SEK -2.13 calculated as profit/loss 
for the period divided by the average number of shares 
before full dilution. No comparative figures are provided 
here, as Aegirbio was established in 2019-10-14 and the 
group was consolidated as of 2020-10-23.

NOTE 14 – INTANGIBLE ASSETS

(Not 12, forts.)



44 AEGIRBIO Annual Report 2020

nOTeS TO The FInAnCIAl STATeMenTS

Acquired asssets

KSEK
Parent Company Group

2020* 2019 2020 2019

Cost, opening 
balance

801 0 0 0

Capitalized 
expenditure for the 
year

2,419 801 3,220 0

Acquisition of 
subsidiary

0 0 27,663 0

Accumulated cost, 
closing balance

3,220 801 30,883 0

Amortization, 
opening balance

0 0 0 0

Amortization for the 
year

0 0 0 0

Accumulated 
amortization, 
closing balance

0 0 0 0

Closing carrying 
amount

3,220 801 30,883 0

Aegirbio's ambition is to become a multidiagnostic 
company, and the Parent Company’s development 
project Tech Transfer concerns the transfer of 
technology and processes from Abreo Biosciences Inc. 
And lifeAssays AB to Aegirbio. From lifeAssays, the 
technology behind the Magniareader is the object of 
transfer. Magniareader is based on patented technology 
for highly precise and quantitative determination of, 
for example, levels of proteins in patient samples. The 
technology is known as Magneto Immuno Assays (MIA) 
and enables the development of immunological tests 
with higher sensitivity and wider measurement range 
than existing methods. Aegirbio is developing point-
of-care diagnostic tests for the Magniareader, with 
performance equivalent to laboratory tests even for 
complex analyses.

Project status: In parallel with Aegirbio’s launch 
of tests such as lDT in neurology, oncology and 
inflammation, the same tests are put up through 
Magniareader to be offered to smaller hospitals and 
clinics. Tysabri, remicade, herceptin and retuximab 
are currently in development phase and will be clinically 
validated for launch during the second half of 2021.

Veritopes, the unique peptides that Aegirbio's tests 
for monitoring of patients receiving treatment with 
biological drugs are based on, are transferred from 
Abreos Biosciences. A Veritope is an exact replica of the 

molecule the drug binds to and can therefore be used 
in a test to determine the exact concentration of active 
substance in a patient during treatment. 

Project status: Today, a so-called laboratory 
Developed Test (lDT) is available for the monitoring 
of patients during treatment with Tysabri. Three 
additional tests, two of which in oncology (herceptin 
and Retuximab) and one in autoimmunity/inflammation 
(remicade) have been validated and will be prepared as 
lDTs in the summer of 2021.

The capitalized costs for the project amount to KSeK 
3,220.

The group’s acquired assets also include the 
acquisitions of the subsidiaries Viraspec AB and 
Thyrolytics AB. The acquisition of Viraspec gives Aegirbio 
access to a complementary technology, allowing 
Aegirbio’s Veritope molecules to improve the performance 
of the company's rapid tests for detection of various 
antibodies. Viraspec's solution is a frontier technology 
within its field. 

Thyrolytics AB is a diagnostics company with a 
patented technology for the diagnosis of thyroid-related 
diseases and will be a good complement to Aegirbio’s 
product portfolio.

Thyrolytics’ patent rights comprise three patent 
families directed towards Thyrolytic’s proprietary 
biosensors and their use. A first patent family, "Biosensor 
for Diagnosis of Thyroid Dysfunction", is directed at 
Thyrolytics’ core technology, that is, methods, instruments 
and other devices for precise diagnostics of thyroid 
diseases. This first patent family is based on an 
international patent application (application number PCT/
eP2019/068869) which received a positive preliminary 
report on patentability (IPrP) from the european Patent 
Office (EPO) in October 2020. All claims were deemed as 
having novelty, inventive step and industrial applicability. 
This international application has now entered the 
national phase based on the positive preliminary opinion, 
and is being processed in a total of 14 regions/countries 
around the world (Australia, Brazil, europe (eP), Canada, 
China, India, Israel, Japan, South Korea, Mexico, russia, 
Singapore, South Africa and the United States).

Thyrolytic's other patent family, "Graphene Biosensor," 
is directed towards a technology that enables extremely 
sensitive measurements with biosensors. The technology 
is not limited to the diagnosis of thyroid diseases but 
can also be applied in other fields. This patent family 
is based on an international patent application (PCT/
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IB2019/052388) which received a positive preliminary 
report on patentability (IPrP) from the Indian Patent 
Office (IPO) in September 2020. All claims were 
deemed as having novelty, inventive step and industrial 
applicability. This international patent application has now 
entered the national phase and is being processed in 11 
regions/countries around the world (Brazil, Canada, China, 
europe (eP), India, Japan, South Korea, South Africa and 
the United States).

Thyrolytics’ third patent family is directed towards 
a technology that complements the other two patent 
families. This patent family is yet to be published as it 
consists of an application to establish priority, which, in 
due course, is intended to lead to an international patent 
application.

Viraspec's patent rights have formed the basis of a 
not yet published international patent application directed 
at the breakthrough technology for rapid and sensitive 
detection of infectious diseases that was developed by 
Viraspec AB. The international patent application was 
filed during the last year and covers, among other things, 
tests and test methods for rapid and sensitive detection 
of COVID-19 in saliva samples.

Internally developed assets

KSEK
Parent Company Group

2020* 2019 2020 2019
Cost, opening 
balance

0 0 0 0

Capitalized 
expenditure for the 
year

0 0 3 611 0

Accumulated cost, 
closing balance

0 0 3 611 0

Amortization, 
opening balance

0 0 0 0

Amortization for the 
year

0 0 0 0

Accumulated 
amortization, 
closing balance

0 0 0 0

Closing carrying 
amount

0 0 3 611 0

Internally developed intangible assets relate to the 
following development projects.

Viraspec is a rapid COVID-19 test to detect the 
presence of coronavirus quickly and accurately by 
means of a saliva sample. 

Project status: The test has been developed during 
2020 and 2021 and is commercialized as of April 2021. 
The capitalized costs for the project amount to KSeK 

288.

Thyrolytics is a diagnostic instrument that will enable 
the 10 percent of the world's population that suffer 
from thyroid disorders to diagnose their thyroid 
hormone levels by means of a capillary blood test, 
anywhere and anytime, within a few minutes. 

Project status: A prototype is currently being finalized 
for clinical validation. This will continue throughout 
2021, and projects are planned to be commercialized in 
2022. Capitalized costs for the project until December 
31, 2020, amounted to KSeK 3,323.

Amortization periods
If the useful life is indefinite, completed projects will be 
amortized over a period of five years. Once the useful 
life is finite, completed projects are amortized over the 
useful life.

NOTE 15 – TANGIBLE ASSETS

(KSEK)
Parent Company Group

2020 2019 2020 2019
Cost, opening 
balance

0 0 0 0

Capitalized 
expenditure for the 
year

0 0 95 0

Accumulated cost, 
closing balance

0 0 95 0

Depreciation, 
opening balance

0 0 0 0

Depreciation for the 
year

0 0 0 0

Accumulated 
depreciation, closing 
balance

0 0 0 0

Closing carrying 
amount

0 0 95 0

NOTE 16 – FIXED ASSETS BY SEGMENT

(KSEK)
Moderbolag Koncern
2020 2019 2020 2019

Tangible assets, 
Sweden

- - - -

Tangible assets, 
Other countries

- - 95 -

Intangible assets, 
Sweden

3,220 801 30,883 -

Intangible assets, 
Other countries

- - - -
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NOTE 17 – PARTICIPATIONS IN GROUP 
COMPANIES

(KSEK)
Parent Company

2020 2019

Opening carrying amount 0 0

Acquisitions during the year 27,121 0

Closing carrying amount 27,121 0

Specification of Parent Company's participations in Group companies

Company Country
Reg. 

Office Reg.no.

Owner- 
ship 

stake

Book  
value as of  

2020-12-31
Viraspec  
AB

Sweden lund 559243-8708 100% 7,168

Thyrolytics 
AB

Sweden lund 559167-2869 100% 19,953

AegirBio 
(UK) ltd

United 
Kingdom

richmond 12963210 100% 1,125

27,121

NOTE 18 – FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 
CATEGORY

Assets on the balance sheet, measured at amortized cost

(KSEK)
Parent Company Group

2020 2019 2020 2019
Accounts receivable 0 0 0 0
receivables from 
group companies

836 0 0 0

Other receivables 2,664 100 2,018 0
Cash and cash 
equivalents

10,277 50 10,395 0

Total 13,777 150 12,413 0

Liabilities on the balance sheet, measured at amortized cost
 

(KSEK)
Parent Company Group

2020 2019 2020 2019

Accounts payable 3,512 100 3,777 0

Other current 
liabilities

769 0 809 ,

Total 4,281 100 4,586 0

The carrying amounts of accounts receivable, receivables 
from group companies, other receivables, cash and cash 
equivalents, accounts payable and other liabilities are 
reasonable approximations of fair value.

NOTE 19 – ACCRUED EXPENSES

(KSEK)
Parent Company Group

2020 2019 2020 2019

Accrued salary 
including 
social security 
contributions

0 0 0 0

Accrued holiday pay 
liability including 
social security 
contributions

106 0 106 0

Other accrued 
expenses

590 0 647 0

Total 696 0 753 0

NOTE 20 – EQUITY

Share capital

Ordinary shareholders are entitled to dividend, the 
amount of which shall be determined progressively, and 
the shareholding conveys voting rights at the Annual 
general Meeting of one vote per share. All shares convey 
equal rights to the group’s remaining net assets.

Other contributed capital

Other contributed capital consists entirely of amounts 
paid in connection with new issues in addition to the 
quota value of issued shares.

Retained earnings including profit for the year

Retained earnings including profit for the year includes 
profit in the Parent Company and its subsidiaries.
Dividend

It is proposed to the Annual general Meeting 2021 that no 
dividend be paid.

Equity, Parent Company

Share development
Parent Company

2020-12-31 2019-12-31

Change in number of shares:   

Opening balance, January 1, 2020 12,500,000 -

Company formation  1,250,000

reverse split 2:1 -6,700,878

Business acquisitions 1,498,400

new issue 4,637,767 11,250,000

Closing balance, December 31, 2020 11,935,289 12,500,000

Restricted equity.



nOTeS TO The FInAnCIAl STATeMenTS

AEGIRBIO Annual Report 2020 47

restricted equity may not be reduced by the distribution 
of dividends.

Fund for development costs

The capitalized amount of internally generated 
development costs must be transferred from non-
restricted equity to a fund for development costs in 
restricted equity. The fund shall be reduced when 
capitalized expenses are amortized or impaired. During 
the year, capitalized projects have not been completed. 
hence, the capitalized assets have not been subject to 
amortization. 

Share premium reserve

Share premium reserve consists entirely of amounts 
paid in connection with new issues in addition to the 
quota value of issued shares and amounts paid for 
warrants exercised during the financial year, and is non-
restricted equity.

Retained earnings

Consists of the previous year's unrestricted equity 
after the payment of any dividend. Together with share 
premium reserve and profit/loss for the year, it makes 
up total non-restricted equity.

NOTE 21 – CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

neither the Parent Company nor the group had any 
pledged assets or other contingent liabilities as at 
2020-12-31, and nor as at 2019-12-31.

NOTE 22 – PLEDGED ASSETS

There are no pledged assets for the financial year.

NOTE 23 – APPROPRIATIONS OF PROFIT OR 
LOSS

The Board of Directors’ proposal on appropriations of 
profit or loss:  

KSEK

Share premium reserve 57,407

retained earnings 0

loss for the year -18,525

Total 38,882

The Board of Directors proposes that the funds at the 
disposal of the Annual general Meeting, KSeK 38,882, be 
carried forward. hence, it is proposed that no dividend be 
paid.

NOTE 24 – BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

On October 23, 2020, the group acquired 100% of the 
shares in the unlisted companies Viraspec AB for KSeK 
7,168 and Thyrolytics AB for KSeK 19,953, which was 
paid in newly issued shares in Aegirbio AB. Through 
the acquisition of the companies, complementary 
technologies and know-how were obtained, adding 
significant value to the company's existing research. 
Through the acquisition, the group is expected to become 
a global multidiagnostic company. 

The group has determined that the acquisitions are 
not to be recognized as business acquisitions under IFrS 
3, because the acquisitions primarily relate to the acquired 
technologies and contain no material processes. In the 
case of asset acquisitions, no goodwill is recognized, and, 
initially, nor any deferred tax. 
Effects of acquisitions in 2020

net assets of acquired companies at the date of 
acquisition:

KSEK Viraspec AB Thyrolytics AB

Intangible assets 291 3,323

Tangible fixed assets - -

Inventory - -

Accounts receivable and other 
receivables 3 78

Cash and cash equivalents 1 107

Accounts payable and other operating 
liabilities -3 -731

Technology and patents 6,876 17,176

Total net assets 7,168 19,953

Viraspec AB
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Aegirbio considers COVID-19 to be a priority area. Time 
to market is of the utmost importance, and in order to 
complement the Company’s offering, Viraspec AB, a 
company with cutting-edge technology for detection of 
COVID-19 infection in patients, was acquired. 

Aegirbio's veritope technology is based on precise 
detection of antibodies, for example to the specific 
coronavirus that causes COVID-19. This entails that 
the analysis of a blood sample can show whether 
the patient has been infected with the coronavirus. 
Viraspec's patents cover technology for increasing 
the sensitivity of simple blood sample tests, and the 
possibility to test saliva samples to detect the presence 
of the virus causing COVID-19 – that is, an active 
infection – has now been added as well. Viraspec's 
solution is at the leading edge of knowledge and is 
a frontier technology in its field. The simplicity of 
the product makes for a very large customer base. 
Viraspec’s COVID-19 test is not the sole reason for 
Aegirbio’s decision to acquire the company; in addition, 
Aegirbio gains access to a complementary technology, 
whose performance, where appropriate, can be further 
improved by Aegirbio’s veritope molecules. 

Thyrolytics AB

Thyrolytics AB is a diagnostics company with a patented 
technology for the diagnosis of thyroid-related diseases. 
The idea is to perform a simple test at a health center to 
determine the presence of disease and what the issue 
is. Furthermore, Thyrolytics also has a drug candidate 
which is the beginning of Aegirbio's ambition to work 
with co-diagnostics, i.e., both monitoring and drugs in 
combination. Today, Thyrolytics is focused on thyroid-
related diseases. 

Thyrolytics expands Aegirbio's offering with a 
precise and uniquely simple test platform. Through 
the acquisition, Aegirbio thus strengthens its offering 
in the market for Point-of-Care tests with an additional 
company with a complementary technology platform 
and products on the verge of market introduction. 

Thyroid disease affects about 10 percent of the 
world's population.  The market for thyroid-related 
diseases is estimated at between USD 2.8 and 3.2 

billion in 2025. In Sweden, more than 460,000 people 
are treated for these conditions. With the simple P.O.C. 
test that is currently being evaluated on patient samples 
for registration and launch, Thyrolytics can diagnose 
and monitor the function of the thyroid gland. With the 
tests within the same disease category that are currently 
in the pipeline, the Company will also make it possible 
to set up and monitor the treatment from the home 
environment.

In parallel with Magniareader and the one-time test 
QDA, Thyrolytic's simple and handheld instruments will 
be able to broaden both the product range and markets 
for Aegirbio.

Acquisition-related costs 

Acquisition-related costs amount to approximately KSeK 
490 and relate to consultancy fees in connection with 
the acqusitions. These expenses have been recognized 
as other operating costs in the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income.

Acquired receivables 

Fair value of receivables amounts to KSeK 81. The gross 
amount of receivables is KSeK 81, and the receivables 
are expected to be settled.  

Consideration transferred

KSEK Viraspec AB Thyrolytics AB

Cash and cash equivalents - - 

Issued shares 396,000 1,102,400

At a price of 18,1 kr/aktie 18,1 kr/aktie

Fair value (SeK) 7,167,600 19,953,440

Total consideration transferred (SEK) 7,167,600 19,953,440

NOTE 25 – SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER 
THE END OF THE PERIOD

Aegirbio creates the multi-diagnostic company 
of the future and acquires LifeAssays and Abreos 
Bioscience.

On January 25, the Board of Directors of AegirBio 
announces that is has resolved to acquire lifeAssays 
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AB and Abreos Bioscience. Through these acquisitions, 
Aegirbio becomes a leading multi-diagnostic company 
with new opportunities for expansion on the world 
market. The acquisitions of lifeAssays and Abreos 
Bioscience imply that Aegirbio secures the world-leading 
technology that serves as the basis of the products that 
will bring the Company into the future and open up new 
opportunities for expansion on the world market.

Aegirbio AB employs Brandon Steele in the role as 
Chief Commercial Officer. 

On February 17, the Company announces the addition of 
Brandon Steele to its Senior Management Team, where 
he takes position as Chief Commercial Officer. In this 
position, he will be responsible for leading the company’s 
commercial breakthrough in the United States.

Aegirbio launches rapid test for COVID-19. 

On April 14, Aegirbio announces that the time has come 
to launch Viraspec Covid-19. The test is a saliva-based 
rapid test and is thus easy, quick and convenient to 
administer, without the discomfort of nasal swab 
testing. The consumer collects saliva into a container 
containing a reagent, then pours the liquid onto the 
reagent stick. After a waiting period of five minutes, 
the result can be read from the stick, with a clear line 
indicating whether infection was detected.
Aegirbio AB signs a distribution agreement for the 
COVID-19 test and at the same time receives an 
order of at least MSEK 40. 

On May 4, Aegirbio announces that an agreement for 
distribution of COVID-19 tests has been signed with nowMed 
Sweden AB, a company focused solely on COVID-19 
products. The cooperation with nowMed Sweden entails 
that the company will act as distributor and partner on the 
Scandinavian professional market. nowMed Sweden will 
further assist with warehousing, orders and deliveries to the 
rest of the world. Sales outside the nordic countries will be 
handled internally by Aegirbio. The agreement is premised on 
the parties sharing the profit, which implies that Aegirbio will 
be able to maintain its good margins also in the long term. 
This order alone is worth at least MSeK 40 to Aegirbio.

Aegirbio signs sales agreement for COVID-19 tests 
in Germany, the largest market in Europe. 

On May 4, Aegirbio announces that the company 
has signed an agreement with MIDAS Pharma, a 

pharmaceutical company in germany, for sales of 
the Company’s saliva test for COVID-19. MIDAS 
Pharma will initially market the product in germany 
but will eventually include other markets where it 
has operations. Through the agreement with MIDAS 
Pharma, Aegirbio gains direct access to europe’s 
largest diagnostics market where COVID-19 testing is 
well established. In addition, MIDAS Pharma will cover 
countries outside germany through its network, which 
will speed up Aegirbio’s sales of tests.

Aegirbio secures working capital for expansion and 
signs a loan agreement totaling MSEK 50. 

May 11, the company announces that it has concluded 
an agreement with a consortium concerning borrowing 
arrangements totaling MSeK 50. The lender provides 
a loan of MSeK 30 to the company and an additional 
loan commitment of MSeK 20. Aegirbio signs the loan 
agreement in order to be able to fulfill and develop the 
opportunities offered by the COVID-19 tests on the world 
market. The volumes will be substantial, and working 
capital is required, among other things, to ensure access 
to raw material. The loan agreement will only be used 
to the extent necessary before revenue from already 
concluded sales agreements starts to flow to the 
company.

The Swedish Companies Registration Office has 
authorized the implementation of the merger plan 
between Aegirbio and LifeAssays. 

On May 19, Aegirbio announces that the Swedish 
Companies Registration Office has granted authorization 
to Aegirbio to implement the merger plan for the merger 
between AegirBio and lifeAssays AB. The Swedish 
Companies Registration Office is expected to register the 
merger on Thursday, June 10, 2021. In connection with 
the registration of the merger, lifeAssays will be dissolved 
and all its assets and liabilities will be transferred to 
AegirBio. In connection with the registration of the merger 
by the Swedish Companies Registration Office, the 
shareholders that are registered in the share register of 
lifeAssays will receive merger consideration. each share 
in lifeAssays will be exchanged for 0.0616 new shares in 
AegirBio.
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The Swedish Companies Registration Office has 
registered the merger between Aegirbio AB and 
LifeAssays AB. 

On June 10, Aegirbio announces that the merger 
between Aegirbio and lifeAssays is registered with 
the Swedish Companies Registration Office. The 
merger is thus concluded and lifeAssays is dissolved. 
Following the registration, the merger has gained legal 
force, and all assets and liabilities of lifeAssays have 
been transferred to Aegirbio. In connection with the 
registration of the merger, the Swedish Companies 
Registration Office today has registered a new issue of 
1,734,287 shares in Aegirbio as part of the total merger 
consideration of 4,859,287 shares in Aegirbio. The total 
number of shares outstanding in Aegirbio after the 
registration of the merger thus amounts to 14,845,200.
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AUDITOR'S REPORT

REPORT ON THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS AND 
CONSOLIDATED ACCOUNTS

Opinions

We have audited the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts of Aegirbio AB (publ) for the financial year 2020. 
The annual accounts and consolidated accounts of the 
company are included on pages 18-51 in this document.

In our opinion, the annual accounts have been 
prepared in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act 
and present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the parent company as of December 31, 
2020, and its financial performance and cash flow for the 
year, in accordance with the Annual Accounts Act. The 
consolidated accounts have been prepared in accordance 
with the Annual Accounts Act and present fairly, in all 
material respects, the financial position of the group as of 
December 31, 2020, and their financial performance and 
cash flow for the year in accordance with International 
Financial reporting Standards (IFrS), as adopted by 
the eU, and the Annual Accounts Act. The statutory 
administration report is consistent with the other parts of 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

We therefore recommend that the general meeting 
of shareholders adopts the income statement and 
balance sheet for the parent company and the statement 
of comprehensive income  and statement of financial 
position for the group.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted our audit in accordance with International 
Standards on Auditing (ISA) and generally accepted 
auditing standards in Sweden. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the 
Auditor’s responsibilities section. We are independent 
of the parent company and the group in accordance 
with professional ethics for accountants in Sweden and 
have otherwise fulfilled our ethical responsibilities in 
accordance with these requirements. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 

is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions.

Emphasis of matter

Without modifying our statement, we would like to draw 
the attention of the reader to the information in the 
management report regarding the continued financing of 
operations and the disclosure under note 5 in the section 
‘Conditions for going concern’. It is clearly stated that 
the cash flows from concluded sales agreements are 
not yet realized, which is a condition for going concern. 
The management's plans are also clearly stated, as well 
as the management’s assessment that they are likely to 
succeed.

As sales agreements remain unrealized at the time 
of the signature of the annual accounts and long-term 
financing is lacking, there is an element of uncertainty that 
may cast doubt on the company’s ability to continue as a 
going concern.

Furthermore, as of December 31, 2020, the assets 
of the group and the parent company largely comprise 
capitalized expenditure for development. As stated in 
the disclosure under note 5, in the section ‘Valuation of 
intangible assets’, the valuation of these assets is based 
on and relies on the conditions for going concern.

Other information than the annual and consolidated 
accounts

This document also contains other information than the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts and is found 
on pages 1-17. The Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for this other information.

Our opinion on the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts does not cover this other information and 
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion 
regarding this other information.

In connection with our audit of the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts, our responsibility is to read 
the information identified above and consider whether 
the information is materially inconsistent with the annual 

To the general meeting of shareholders of Aegirbio AB (publ), corporate registration number 559222-295
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accounts and consolidated accounts. In this procedure 
we also take into account our knowledge otherwise 
obtained in the audit and assess whether the information 
otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If we, based on the work performed concerning 
this information, conclude that there is a material 
misstatement of this other information, we are required to 
report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the Board of Director’s and the 
Managing Director

The Board of Directors and the Managing Director are 
responsible for the preparation of the annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts and that they give a fair 
presentation in accordance with the Annual Accounts 
Act and, concerning the consolidated accounts, in 
accordance with IFrS as adopted by the eU. The 
Board of Directors and the Managing Director are also 
responsible for such internal control as they determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of annual accounts 
and consolidated accounts that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, the Board of Directors and the Managing 
Director are responsible for the assessment of the 
company’s and the group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. They disclose, as applicable, matters related 
to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting. The going concern basis of accounting is 
however not applied if the Board of Directors and the 
Managing Director intend to liquidate the company, to 
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to 
do so.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about 
whether the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinions. reasonable assurance is a 
high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an 
audit conducted in accordance with ISAs and generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, 
they could reasonably be expected to influence the 

economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, 
we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material 
misstatement in the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts, whether due to fraud or error, 
design and perform audit procedures responsive 
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
the opinions. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher 
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may 
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal 
control. 

• Obtain an understanding of the company’s internal 
control relevant to the audit in order to design audit 
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, 
but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on 
the effectiveness of the company’s internal control.

• evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies 
used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates and related disclosures made by the Board 
of Directors and, where applicable, the Managing 
Director.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the Board of 
Directors’ and the Managing Director’s use of the 
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the 
annual accounts and consolidated accounts. We 
also draw a conclusion, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, as to whether any material uncertainty 
exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention 
in the auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
or, if such disclosures are inadequate,  to  modify  
the  opinion  about  the  annual  accounts  and  
consolidated  accounts. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of the 
auditor’s report. however, future events or conditions 
may cause a company and a group to cease to 
continue as a going concern.
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• evaluate the overall presentation, structure and 
content of the annual accounts and consolidated 
accounts, including the disclosures, and whether 
the annual accounts and consolidated accounts 
represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient and appropriate audit evidence 
regarding the financial information of the entities 
or business activities within the group to express 
an opinion on the consolidated accounts. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and 
performance of the group audit. We remain solely 
responsible for our opinions. 

We must inform the Board of Directors of, among other 
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit. We 
must also inform the Board of Directors of significant 
audit findings during the audit, including any significant 
deficiencies in internal control that we identified.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND  
REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Opinions

In addition to our audit of the annual accounts and 
consolidated accounts, we have also examined the 
administration of the Board of Directors and the CeO 
of Aegirbio AB (publ) for 2020 as well as the proposed 
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss.

We recommend to the general meeting of 
shareholders that the profit be appropriated in accordance 
with the proposal in the statutory administration report 
and that the members of the Board of Director’s and the 
Managing Director be discharged from liability for the 
financial year.

Basis for Opinions

We conducted the audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden. Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further 
described in the Auditor’s responsibilities section. We 
are independent of the parent company and the group 
in accordance with professional ethics for accountants 
in Sweden and have otherwise fulfilled our ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained 
is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinions.

Responsibilities of the Board of Director’s and the 
Managing Director

The Board of Directors is responsible for the proposal 
for appropriations of the company’s profit or loss. At 
the proposal of a dividend, this includes an assessment 
of whether the dividend is justifiable considering the 
requirements which the company’s and the group’s type 
of operations, size and risks place on the size of the 
parent company’s and the group’s equity, consolidation 
requirements, liquidity and position in general.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the 
company’s organization and the administration of 
the company’s affairs. This includes, among other 
things, continuous assessment of the company’s 
and the group’s financial situation and ensuring that 
the company’s organization is designed so that the 
accounting, management of assets and the company’s 
financial affairs otherwise are controlled in a reassuring 
manner.

The Managing Director shall manage the ongoing 
administration according to the Board of Directors’ 
guidelines and instructions and, among other matters, 
take measures that are necessary to fulfill the company’s 
accounting in accordance with law and handle the 
management of assets in a reassuring manner.

Auditor’s responsibility

Our objective concerning the audit of the administration, 
and thereby our opinion about discharge from liability, 
is to obtain audit evidence to assess with a reasonable 
degree of assurance whether any member of the Board 
of Directors or the Managing Director in any material 
respect:

• has undertaken any action or been guilty of any 
omission which can give rise to liability to the 
company, or

• in any other way has acted in contravention of the 
Companies Act, the Annual Accounts Act or the 
Articles of Association.
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Our objective concerning the audit of the proposed 
appropriations of the company’s profit or loss, and 
thereby our opinion about this, is to assess with 
reasonable degree of assurance whether the proposal is 
in accordance with the Companies Act.

reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with generally accepted auditing standards 
in Sweden will always detect actions or omissions that 
can give rise to liability to the company, or a proposed 
appropriation of the company’s profit or loss that would 
not be in accordance with the Companies Act

As part of an audit in accordance with generally 
accepted auditing standards in Sweden, we exercise 
professional judgment and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout. The review of the administration 
and the proposed appropriations of the company’s 
profit or loss is based primarily on the audit of the 
accounts. Additional audit procedures performed are 
based on our professional judgment guided by risk and 
materiality. This means that we focus the review on such 
actions, areas and relationships that are material for the 
operations and where deviations and violations would 
have particular importance for the company’s situation. 
We review and test decisions undertaken, support for 
decisions, actions taken and other circumstances that 
are relevant to our opinion concerning discharge from 
liability. As a basis for our opinion on the Board of 
Directors’ proposed appropriations of the company’s 
profit or loss, we reviewed whether the proposal is in 
accordance with the Companies Act.

Malmö, June 14, 2021, KPMg AB

  
  
  
Johan rasmusson,  
Authorized Public Accountant  
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